## THE KOLBE-SCHMITT REACTION

## ALAN S. LINDSEY

Chemical Research Laboratory, D.S.I.R., Teddington, Middlesex, England

#### AND

#### HAROLD JESKEY

Department of Chemistry, Southern Methodist University, Dallas, Texas

## Received February 2, 1957

## CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	583
	Historical	
	A. Kolbe method	584
	B. Schmitt method	584
	C. Marasse method	585
	D. Methods involving the use of solvents.	585
	1. Carbonation in aqueous solution.	585
	2. Carbonation in organic solvents	585
	3. Carbonation in phenol (Wacker process)	586
	E. Present-day industrial processes	586
III.	Factors influencing the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction.	587
	A. Effect of water	
	B. Effect of temperature and pressure	588
	C. Effect of alkali metal.	589
	D. Effect of solvent	591
IV.	Proposed reaction mechanisms	592
	A. Metalation of aromatic nucleus	592
	B. Intermediate formation of metal aryl carbonate	594
	C. Direct nuclear carbonation	
	D. Tautomeric rearrangement.	598
	E. Chelate formation and electrophilic substitution	<b>5</b> 99
V.	Application of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction.	601
	A. Aromatic series	601
	B. Heterocyclic series	
	C. Other compounds	602
VI.	Tabulation of compounds earbonated	
	Summary	
	·	614

## I. Introduction

The Kolbe-Schmitt reaction has been a standard procedure for the preparation of aromatic hydroxy acids for over ninety years. In general, substitution occurs ortho to the phenolic hydroxyl group, but cases of para substitution are also known. Although numerous scattered references appear in the journals, no comprehensive review has hitherto been available. Henceka gives some account of the experimental aspects (98) and Davies briefly mentions the reaction mechanisms proposed prior to 1928 (52).

The purpose of this review is to bring together the many isolated applications of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction in the form of a general survey. Special emphasis is placed on reaction mechanisms and the various factors which influence the course of the reaction. A tabular summary of the phenols carbonated, together with experimental conditions and yields of hydroxy acids, is presented. An effort has been made to review the literature through January 1956.

## II. HISTORICAL

### A. KOLBE METHOD

In 1860 Kolbe succeeded in preparing salicylic acid by heating a mixture of phenol and sodium in the presence of carbon dioxide at atmospheric pressure (139, 140, 141). The sodium salicylate formed in this reaction was dissolved in water and the salicylic acid precipitated on acidification. Kolbe wished to show that salicylic acid was monobasic by preparing it from its decomposition products, phenol and carbon dioxide. The successful synthesis in 1860 was a climax to many futile attempts to prepare salicylic acid in this way. Using this same procedure Kolbe also produced p-cresotinic acid and o-thymotinic acids from p-cresol and thymol, respectively (142).

Some years later Kolbe found it necessary to prepare a large amount of salicylic acid. However, on attempting to reproduce the original synthesis, it was found that the yield of salicylic acid varied greatly under seemingly similar reaction conditions. During studies designed to correct this variation in yield, Kolbe found that not only were sodium salicylate and phenol produced in the reaction, but also sodium phenoxide and sodium carbonate. A puzzling feature was that one-half of the initial amount of the phenol was volatilized from the reaction mixture, despite absolutely dry conditions. Kolbe then found that by starting with previously prepared sodium phenoxide a very good yield of salicylic acid was obtained.

With these observations in mind Kolbe recommended a new procedure for the preparation of salicylic acid (137). Sodium phenoxide was prepared by evaporating to dryness an aqueous solution containing equivalent amounts of phenol and sodium hydroxide. The solid phenoxide, which is extremely hygroscopic, was powdered and protected from air until ready for use. The dried sodium phenoxide was heated in an iron retort to 180°C., and carbon dioxide was allowed to pass slowly over the hot salt. The introduction of carbon dioxide caused a large amount of phenol to distil. The temperature was finally raised to 220–250°C., and the reaction was considered complete when no more phenol distilled. In this procedure the yield of salicylic acid never exceeded 50 per cent, since one-half of the starting phenol was lost by volatilization.

### B. SCHMITT METHOD

A modification of the Kolbe reaction, in which the carbonation was carried out under pressure and which resulted in greatly improved yields, was described in 1884 by Schmitt, who took out patents covering the preparation of salicylic

and homologous acids (202, 205) and hydroxynaphthoic acids (106, 203). These procedures were subsequently elaborated (204, 207). Thus, for example, dry sodium phenoxide is placed in a closed vessel and heated with carbon dioxide at 120–130° C. for several hours under a pressure of 80 to 94 atm. Under these conditions no phenol is lost and an almost quantitative yield of salicylic acid is obtained. This modified procedure, known as the Kolbe–Schmitt reaction, remains the standard method for the preparation of a wide variety of aromatic hydroxy acids.

#### C. MARASSE METHOD

A further and by far the most simple modification of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction was introduced in 1893 by Marasse (159, 160). In this procedure a mixture of the free phenol and excess anhydrous potassium carbonate is carbonated under pressure and at elevated temperature to give the potassium salt of the aromatic hydroxy acid. Acidification gives the free acid in good yield. Recent work indicates that the Marasse modification is fully as general as the Kolbe-Schmitt method and in many cases gives better yields (6, 36, 254). In addition it avoids the time-consuming preparation of the hygroscopic phenoxides.

The excess potassium carbonate acts as an extender and prevents fusion of the mixture with consequent lower yield. Industrially the process would be expensive, since only potassium, rubidium, or cesium carbonates are known to be suitable, the cheaper sodium, magnesium, and calcium carbonates being inert in the reaction. To make the process economically cheaper Marasse later proposed that only one part of potassium carbonate to two parts of phenol be used, with addition of kieselguhr as an extender (1).

### D. METHODS INVOLVING THE USE OF SOLVENTS

## 1. Carbonation in aqueous solutions

While water will inhibit the carbonation of monohydric phenols, the more reactive di- and trihydric phenols—especially where the hydroxyl groups are meta to one another—can be carbonated in alkaline solution. With phenols such as resorcinol, pyrogallol, and phloroglucinol monocarbonation is achieved, in good yield, by heating with fairly concentrated solutions of alkali bicarbonates in an open vessel, usually with passage of carbon dioxide at atmospheric pressure (19, 240, 259).

Thus  $\beta$ -resorcylic acid can be prepared in 60 per cent yield by the carbonation of resorcinol in sodium bicarbonate solution (91, 172). Under similar conditions, but using carbon dioxide under a pressure of 100 atm., m-aminophenol may be converted to p-aminosalicylic acid in 45 per cent yield (6).

# 2. Carbonation in organic solvents

The use of toluene as a suspension medium in the carbonation of the metal salts of phloroglucinol and the naphthols with successful results was reported in 1901 (173, 174). Later Brunner employed glycerol as a solvent for carbonations

at atmospheric pressure. The phenol in glycerol solution is heated with alkali bicarbonate in a stream of carbon dioxide at 130–210°C. (32). In general this method does not give as satisfactory results as the Kolbe-Schmitt or Marasse procedures, but it can be used where pressure equipment is not available.

Carbonation of metal aryloxides in dioxane, pyridine, and dialkyl ketones in good yields has been reported (33, 80, 152). The general method is to dissolve the phenol in the solvent, add the calculated amount of solid sodium hydroxide, and, after refluxing, azeotropically distil the water formed. Carbonation can often be effected at atmospheric pressure. Owing to the high cost of organic solvents this method has not been adopted by industry.

## 3. Carbonation in phenols (Wacker process)

Although it was shown in 1923 that sodium or potassium 2-naphthoxide could be satisfactorily carbonated in an excess of 2-naphthol (11), the general applicability of this method was only recognized later by Wacker (248). The procedure is to dissolve one molecular proportion of caustic soda in six molecular proportions of the phenol and distil the excess water at 140°C., adding some xylene if necessary. Carbon dioxide is then passed into the solution at 1 atm. for several hours, and the product is isolated in the usual way. Very pure ortho-carbonated products can be obtained by this method.

### E. PRESENT-DAY INDUSTRIAL PROCESSES

The general method of the manufacture of salicylic acid by the carbonation of dry sodium phenoxide with carbon dioxide under pressure is essentially the same in all the major manufacturing countries and has been adequately described (Britain: 256) (Germany: 2, 16, 17, 18, 49, 97) (U.S.A.: 88). The Wacker process is reported to have been used in France (256). Briefly, the process consists in dissolving the phenol in slightly more than one equivalent of hot 50 per cent sodium hydroxide solution. The solution is transferred to a main reactor, consisting of either a vertical closed autoclave equipped with stirrer and baffles or a closed rotary ball mill (67, 68), and is evaporated to dryness by heating at 130°C, under gradual reduction of pressure. Heating is continued until the sodium phenoxide is in a completely dry, powdery form. Carbon dioxide at about 5 atm. pressure is then charged into the reactor, the temperature being held around 100°C.; after absorption of approximately one mole of carbon dioxide, the temperature is raised and held at 150–160°C, for several hours. The carbonation product is cooled and dissolved in water; after treatment with activated charcoal the solution is filtered off. The crude sodium salicylate can be purified by crystallization as the hexahydrate at a temperature below 20°C. (89). Salicylic acid is obtained by acidification of the liquors, and is further purified by sublimation. By-products of the reaction are 2- and 4-hydroxyisophthalic acids, which are found in the "brown dust" residues from the sublimation chambers (120, 124). p-Hydroxybenzoic acid is also a by-product of the reaction and is probably lost in the acidification liquors (143).

A similar process is utilized in the manufacture of the three isomeric cresotinic acids and 2-hydroxynaphthoic acid (17). In the case of p-hydroxybenzoic acid, potassium hydroxide is substituted for sodium hydroxide, the carbonation of the dry potassium phenoxide being carried out at around 190°C.

Because of the use of p-aminosalicylic acid (PAS) in the treatment of human tuberculosis, substantial quantities are now produced by the carbonation of m-aminophenol (88, 117; see also Section VI). The general method consists in heating m-aminophenol with a solution of potassium bicarbonate under carbon dioxide (30 atm.) at 85°C. in an autoclave for several hours (66, 226, 253). After unchanged material is filtered from the cold solution, addition of hydrochloric acid until the solution is just acid to Congo red precipitates p-aminosalicylic acid, which can be further purified by solution in sodium bicarbonate and reprecipitation with acid. Treatment with aqueous sulfurous acid under pressure has also been suggested as a method of separation from the diacid byproduct (90). Addition of boric acid to the carbonation mixture has been reported to give increased yields of p-aminosalicylic acid (180).

# III. FACTORS INFLUENCING THE KOLBE-SCHMITT REACTION

### A. EFFECT OF WATER

The use of damp sodium phenoxide or moist carbon dioxide in the salicylic acid synthesis leads to low yields of product; the same is true for the alkali metal salts of other monohydric phenols (39, 137). These salts are hygroscopic and before carbonation are normally dried by heating under reduced pressure. A similar adverse effect of water on yield has been reported in the case of the Marasse method (36, 60). The interesting observation has also been made that carbonation of disodium catechoxide, containing one mole of water, at 134°C. leads to the formation of 2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid, while perfectly dry starting material yields 2,3-dihydroxyterephthalic acid at 210°C. (39, 209).

Chelation of water molecules with alkali metal ions is of importance in a number of organic reactions (23), and it may well be that in the case of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction the stronger chelating power of water with the alkali metal aryloxides will prevent the initial addition of carbon dioxide (92, 204). Hydrolysis of the metal salt to the phenol and sodium hydroxide may also occur. Introduction of the carbon dioxide under these conditions will lead only to the formation of sodium bicarbonate, the phenol being unaffected.

As has already been mentioned in this review (Section II), di- and trihydric phenols can be carbonated in aqueous solution in the presence of an alkali metal carbonate such as potassium carbonate, the ease of carbonation varying considerably with the compound employed. Thus catechol, resorcinol, pyrogallol, and phloroglucinol can be carbonated under a stream of carbon dioxide in an open flask, whereas quinol, 2-methylquinol, and m-aminophenol must be heated in alkaline solution with carbon dioxide under pressure (19, 144, 164, 240, 258, 259). The greater ease of carbonation of these compounds may arise from lower energies of activation and tautomerization to highly reactive keto forms. Re-

					1				
Temperature	S	alicylic Acid	i	p-Hyd	lroxybenzoi	c Acid	4-Hydro	oxyisophtha	lic Acid
. cmperature	Na*	K	М	Na	K	M	Na	K	M
°C.	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent	per cent
100	94†	46	49	4	54	51	2	0	0
150	97	54	57	2	44	42	1	2	1
200	96	79	76	2	16	20	2	5	4
250	95	67	63	1	1	1	4	3 <b>2</b>	36

TABLE 1
Carbonation of phenol

sorcinol, for example, is carbonated in the presence of a zinc-copper-chromium oxide catalyst, no alkali being present (135). However, insufficient work has been carried out to justify definite conclusions.

#### B. EFFECT OF PRESSURE AND TEMPERATURE

At a given temperature, increase of the carbon dioxide pressure above a certain minimum value does not greatly affect the course of the carbonation reaction. However, in some cases an increase in the reaction rate may occur, with a consequent improvement in yield of product for a given reaction time. It has been found (6), for example, that carbonation of sodium or potassium phenoxide under the conditions specified by Kolbe and Schmitt or Marasse is little affected in total yield or relative amounts of the acids formed by variation of the pressure between 80 atm. and 130 atm. or of the time of heating between 4 and 24 hr. (table 1). The rearrangement of sodium 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoate to sodium 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoate during the carbonation of sodium 2-naphthoxide at 145–160°C. is likewise unaffected by increase of pressure up to 45 atm. (231). Increased pressure at high temperatures has been found to lead to disubstitution in the ortho and para positions (128).

The minimal pressure required for quantitative carbonation probably corresponds to the dissociation pressure of the metal aryloxide—carbon dioxide complex at the temperature employed and possibly varies according to the aryloxide used. Davies showed that for the sodium phenoxide—carbon dioxide complex (prepared by heating sodium phenoxide at  $105^{\circ}$ C. with carbon dioxide under pressure) the dissociation pressure at temperatures above  $140^{\circ}$ C. lay between 3 and 4 atm. (52). The thermal decomposition of monosodium salicylate in an evacuated system was investigated by plotting the P, T curve. In this way the equilibrium temperature and pressure for the irreversible reaction

$$HOC_6H_4COONa \rightarrow C_6H_5ONa + CO_2$$

was found to be approximately 150°C. and 74 mm. of mercury, while above 150°C. the reversible reaction

$$HOC_6H_4COONa + C_6H_5ONa \Rightarrow NaOC_6H_4COONa + C_6H_5OH$$

<sup>\*</sup> The symbols Na and K refer to the carbonation of sodium and potassium phenoxides, and M refers to the Marasse modification.

<sup>†</sup> These values refer to the per cent composition of the total mixed acids isolated. The total overall yields in many of the carbonations amounted to as much as 80 per cent based on the quantity of mixed acids isolated.

		_	Total Yield of	$\mathbf{Y}_{1}$	ield
Te	mperature	Pressure	Mixed Acids	Salicylic acid	p-Hydroxy- benzoic acid
		!	per cent	per cent	per cent
	140°C.	5 atm.	42	60	40
	210°C.	5 atm	70	76	24
A	240°C.	5 atm.	29	93	5
	[ 180°C.	40 atm.	7.5	97	3
	∫ 140°C.	5 atm.	31	34	66
В	210°C	40 atm.	63	88	12

TABLE 2

Carbonation of (A) potassium phenoxide and (B) cesium phenoxide

The reaction mixture was heated for 4 hr. at the stated temperature, the preheating period being about 1.5 hr. (254).

 ${\bf TABLE~3} \\ {\it Carbonation~of~(A)~potassium~phenoxide~and~(B)~cesium~phenoxide~at~1~atm.~(254)} \\$ 

		Total Yield of	· Y	ield	Phenol Distilling
1	'emperature	Mixed Acids	Salicylic acid	p-Hydroxy- benzoic acid	Over as Per Cent of Theoretical
	1	per cent	per cent	per cent	
	(140°C.	39	59	41	7
A	} 190°C.	43	20	70	_
	210°C.	48	6	94	46
_	∫ 140°C.	40	22	78	_
В	210 C.	46	7	93	_

was found to occur. At temperatures of 200°C. and above, it has been shown (52) that decomposition of monosodium salicylate proceeds according to the following equation:

$$2HOC_6H_4COONa \rightarrow NaOC_6H_4COONa + C_6H_5OH + CO_2$$

The extent to which this occurs at lower temperatures is at present uncertain. Temperature, in contrast to pressure, greatly influences the reactivity of the aryloxide as well as the position of substitution. Results illustrating the effect of variation in temperature and alkali metal used are shown in tables 1, 2, and 3.

Although it was early reported that p-hydroxybenzoic acid was exclusively obtained by the carbonation of potassium phenoxide (107), recent results (table 3) suggest that ortho substitution occurs initially, with subsequent rearrangement at higher temperatures (128, 254). The rearrangement of sodium 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoate appears to be analogous (231). Thus variation of the products with increasing temperatures may arise either from direct carbonation at different positions in the nucleus or by rearrangement.

## C. EFFECT OF ALKALI METAL

The Kolbe-Schmitt reaction is the classical example of a reaction in which the nature of the reaction product is greatly affected by the alkali metal used.

				TAI	BLE	4		
Effect	υf	the	alkali	metal	on	the	carbonation	product

Compound		Temp- erature		Time of Heating		Reference
		°C.	aim.	hours		
Phenol.	Li	200	8	18	Salicylic acid (8.7%)	(128)
	Na	200	8	18	Salicylic acid (30.5%)	
	K	200	8	18	Salicylic acid (4.2%)	
			i	1	p-Hydroxybenzoic acid (40.6%)	
vic-m-Xylenol	Li	170	18	18	3,5-Dimethyl-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (24.2%)	(128)
	Na	170	. 18	18	3,5-Dimethyl-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (32%)	
	K	170	18	18	3,5.Dimethyl-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (4.8%)	
ym·m·Xylenol	Na	170	10	18	2,4-Dimethyl-6-hydroxybenzoic acid (8.4%)	(128)
	K	170	10	18	2, 4-Dimethyl-6-hydroxybenzoic acid (35%)	
		1			2,6-Dimethyl-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (1%)	1
o-Fluorophenol	Li	160	53	6	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid (70%)	(75, 76)
	Na	160	53	. 6	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid (71%)	1
	i		:		3-Fluoro-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (26%)	
	$^{\pm}$ K	160	53	6	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid (25%)	
				1 :	3-Fluoro-4-hydroxybenzoic acid (75%)	

Thus under comparable conditions carbonation of sodium phenoxide will give salicylic acid, while potassium phenoxide yields a mixture of salicylic and p-hydroxybenzoic acids (6, 138, 176). Similarly, in the naphthol series sodium 2-naphthoxide yields 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid (the 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid at low temperatures), whereas potassium 2-naphthoxide yields a mixture of 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid and 2-hydroxy-6-naphthoic acid (3, 70). It has been shown that sodium 6-quinolyloxide is not carbonated by being heated for 8 hr. at 175°C. with carbon dioxide under pressure; the potassium derivative gives an almost quantitative yield of 6-hydroxyquinoline-5-carboxylic acid (206). Neither the sodium nor the potassium derivative of carbostyril could be carbonated under the normal Kolbe-Schmitt or Marasse conditions (86, 129, 244). Some examples of these differences are given in table 4.

The course of a number of organic reactions is greatly altered by varying the alkali metal used. It has been shown that the rate of hydrolysis of ethyl sulfate in 90 per cent aqueous methanol increased through the series NaOH < KOH < N(CH<sub>3</sub>)(C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>3</sub>OH depending on the hydroxide employed (23). Similarly, the ratio of ortho to para products in the Reimer-Tiemann reaction, using 15 N alkali solutions, fell through the series NaOH > KOH > CsOH > N(CH<sub>3</sub>)(C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)<sub>3</sub>OH. It was suggested that the differences observed were associated with differences in the chelating strengths of the metals used, and it is known that, in the series of alkali and alkaline earth metals, the chelating strengths or stabilizing constants can be correlated with the  $e^2/r$  values of the ions (see table 5) (162, 217). Studies of the rearrangement of mono- and dimetalated salicylates suggests that C=O→MO chelation has some influence on the course of this reaction (121, 122, 257). Support for this has been adduced from conductivity measurements of the metal salicylates in acetone, where it was found that the ionization of potassium, rubidium, and cesium salicylates was

Ion	Ionic Radius	<u>e²</u>	Stability Constant in Case of EDTA*	Ion	Ionic Radius	e <sup>2</sup>	Stability Constant in Case of EDTA
Li <sup>+</sup>	0.60	1.7	2.8	Cs <sup>+</sup>	1.67	6.60	No complex
Na <sup>+</sup>	0.97	1.05	1.7	Ca <sup>2+</sup>	1.18	3.4	10.6
K <sup>+</sup>	1.33	0.75	No complex	Sr <sup>2+</sup>	1.32	3.0	8.6
Rb <sup>+</sup>	1.47	0.68	No complex	Ba <sup>2+</sup>	1.53	2.6	7.8

TABLE 5
Chelating strengths of metal ions

very much greater than that of lithium and sodium salicylates. On the assumption that a close connection exists between ionization and the chelation effect, it follows that lithium and sodium salicylates, which cannot be rearranged to p-hydroxybenzoate, are more strongly chelated than potassium, rubidium, and cesium salicylates, which are readily rearranged on heating.

Some experimental evidence suggests that the carbonation of potassium phenoxide occurs initially at the ortho position, the p-hydroxybenzoate arising by subsequent rearrangement (128). It is also known that the carbonation of sodium 2-naphthoxide leads initially to 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid, which rearranges to 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid (231). However, the possibility of intra- or intermolecular carbonation by an activated metal aryloxide—carbon dioxide complex cannot be disregarded (92). A weak chelation effect of  $N\rightarrow MO$  has been suggested as a factor adversely affecting the carbonation of carbostyril (86).

The failure of sodium, magnesium, and calcium carbonates and of sodium bicarbonate in the Marasse carbonation may arise from their insolubility and consequent unreactivity toward phenols, the formation of the metal aryloxide being a necessary prelude to carbonation (36, 254). Potassium bicarbonate and potassium, rubidium, and cesium carbonates, however, readily react with phenols and carbonation then proceeds.

In addition to the differences in chelation strengths of the alkali metals, another factor which possibly influences orientation in the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction is a variation of the electromeric effect with the metal. In dissociating solvents the phenoxy anion is known to have powerful ortho-para-directing properties (126, 127). However, in the solid state or in nondissociating media the polarizability of the metal-oxygen bond will vary with the polarizability of the cation, and this suggests that the electromeric effect will increase through the series  $N(C_2H_5)_4O < LiO < NaO < KO < RbO < CsO (166)$ . No detailed study of this aspect has been made.

#### D. EFFECT OF SOLVENT

One of the practical difficulties associated with carbonating metal aryloxides in the solid state lies in the necessity for attaining absolutely anhydrous conditions. A second difficulty lies in the production and maintenance of the dry

<sup>\*</sup> EDTA = ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

Compound	Solvent	Dielec- tric Con- stant	Tem- pera- ture	Pres- sure	Acid Product	Yield	Refer- ence
			°C.	atm.		per ceni	
Sodium phenoxide	Methanol	31.2	140	22	None	_	(128)
	Ethanol	25.8	140	6	None	-	
	1-Butanol	19.2	155	10	Salicylic acid	7.5	
	Glycol	41.2	140	6	None	-	
	Glycerol	56.2	170	10	None		
	Xylene (suspen- sion)	2.6	138	1	Salicylic acid	33.5	
Sodium 2-naphthoxide	Dioxane	2.2	260	8	2-Hydroxy-3- naphthoic acid	_	(152)
Sodium 1-naphthoxide.	Pyridine	12.5	115	1	1-Hydroxy-2- naphthoic scid	Almost quan- titative	(33)
Sodium phenoxide	Diisobutyl ketone	-	150	1	Salicylic acid	18.9	(80)

TABLE 6
Carbonation in various solvents

aryloxide in a finely divided state. Caking during carbonation or inefficient mixing results in low yields and may also lead to superheating, with formation of undesirable by-products.

Use of an inert solvent or suspension medium obviates these difficulties, since azeotropic distillation of part of the solvent will remove water and stirring can be efficiently conducted. Hydrocarbons, for example, can act as solvents for metal phenoxides with long-chain alkyl substituents, but generally the phenoxides are insoluble in this type of solvent and the compound must be carbonated as a finely divided suspension (50, 173, 174, 184, 228).

In addition to the Wacker process, where excess phenol is utilized as solvent, glycerol (32), 1,4-dioxane and 1,3-dioxane (152), pyridine (33), quinoline (33), and dialkyl ketones (80) have been proposed.

Use of a solvent not only facilitates a homogeneous reaction mixture but in a number of cases enables the reaction to be carried out under milder conditions. Sodium 2-naphthoxide, for example, is reported to undergo carbonation readily in dioxane at 50–60°C. and 1 atm. to give 2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid (152). Sodium 1-naphthoxide in pyridine at 115°C. under 1 atm. of carbon dioxide gives an almost quantitative yield of 1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid (33). Likewise, sodium p-benzylphenoxide was found to give 5-benzyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid in good yield when carbonated in methyl isobutyl ketone solution at 100°C. and 1 atm. (80).

Isemer has pointed out that carbonation proceeds most readily in solvents of low dielectric constant (128). Some supporting experimental results are given in table 6.

## IV. PROPOSED REACTION MECHANISMS

## A. METALATION OF AROMATIC NUCLEUS

Kolbe (137) found that for every two moles of sodium phenoxide heated in a stream of carbon dioxide, almost exactly one mole was liberated as phenol, the

other mole being converted into disodium salicylate. To accommodate these facts he postulated ortho metalation of one molecule of sodium phenoxide through sodium-hydrogen interchange with a second molecule, with formation of phenol; the metalated derivative was presumed to react directly with carbon dioxide to yield disodium salicylate.

It has been shown that dimetallo derivatives of phenoxides are formed under certain conditions: for example, by refluxing lithium phenoxide with n-butyllithium in ether (87). Treatment with carbon dioxide gave salicylic acid in low yield. In the absence of n-butyllithium no salicylic acid was obtained. Treatment of 2-naphthol with n-butyllithium in boiling benzene followed by subsequent carbonation gave 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid in 7 per cent yield. On the basis of these results and the observations of other workers (82) that some metallic enolates react as true organometallic compounds towards carbon dioxide, it was suggested that at the temperature of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction the phenoxide tautomerizes to the ortho-metalated forms. These tautomers either react directly with carbon dioxide, as does phenyllithium for example, or react with nontautomerized phenoxide to produce ortho-metalated compounds which then react with carbon dioxide. Further evidence for the existence of di- and trimetalated derivatives of alkali metal phenoxides arises from the presence of salicylic, 2-hydroxyisophthalic, and 2-hydroxyterephthalic acids upon the carbonation of sodium or potassium phenoxide after treatment with n-amylsodium in boiling dodecane (166).

ONa O OH Na OH Na 
$$\downarrow$$
 COONa OH COONa  $\downarrow$  H

The mechanism involving the formation of ortho-metalated tautomers has however been criticized (92) on the basis that sodium phenoxide at temperatures above 120°C, reacts with an alkyl halide to give substantially the corresponding alkyl phenyl ether. Thus, treatment of sodium phenoxide at 150°C, with n-hexyl bromide gives n-hexyl phenyl ether in 91 per cent yield. Appreciable quantities of ortho-substituted alkylphenol would be expected to be formed if tautomerism of the type suggested had occurred at this temperature.

#### B. INTERMEDIATE FORMATION OF METAL ARYL CARBONATE

Although Kolbe suggested in 1860 (141) that large quantities of sodium phenyl carbonate were formed during the reaction of sodium with phenol in the presence of carbon dioxide, he later concluded that sodium bicarbonate was the main by-product (137). Schmitt (204), however, claimed that sodium phenyl carbonate could be prepared by treating perfectly dry sodium phenoxide with dry carbon dioxide. After two to four weeks almost exactly one mole of carbon dioxide was absorbed, increase in volume and development of heat being observed. The substance so formed was a white solid; it was very much less deliquescent than sodium phenoxide and on treatment with water evolved carbon dioxide with formation of phenol, sodium phenoxide, and sodium bicarbonate.

$$2\mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{H}_5\mathrm{OCOONa} + \mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O} \rightarrow \mathrm{CO}_2 + \mathrm{C}_6\mathrm{H}_5\mathrm{OH} + \mathrm{NaOC}_6\mathrm{H}_5 + \mathrm{NaHCO}_3$$

Schmitt criticized Kolbe's suggested mechanism on the basis that although carbon dioxide was absorbed by the sodium phenoxide at temperatures below 100°C., phenol was not liberated until higher temperatures (above 140°C.) were reached. Following an earlier suggestion (9) he postulated initial formation of sodium phenyl carbonate, which subsequently rearranged to give the salt of salicylic acid. The following consecutive reactions were proposed:

- (1)  $C_6H_5ONa + CO_2 \rightarrow C_6H_5OCOONa$
- (2)  $C_6H_6OCOONa \rightarrow HOC_6H_4COONa$
- (3)  $HOC_6H_4COONa + C_6H_5ONa \rightarrow C_6H_5OH + NaOC_6H_4COONa$

Schmitt showed that when his preparation of sodium phenyl carbonate was heated for 1 hr. at 120–130°C, in a sealed tube it was quantitatively converted to monosodium salicylate, and that the latter when heated with a further mole of sodium phenoxide yielded phenol and disodium salicylate.

The idea that sodium phenyl carbonate was formed as an intermediate had also been advanced by Hentschel (99), who proposed the following reaction steps:

- (1)  $CO_2 + C_6H_5ONa \rightarrow C_6H_5OCOONa$
- (2)  $C_6H_5OCOONa + C_6H_5ONa \rightarrow NaOC_6H_4COONa + C_6H_5OH$

The similar conversion of potassium phenyl sulfate to potassium p-phenolsulfonate observed by Baumann (9) lent support to this idea. Hentschel also showed that when ethyl phenyl carbonate was heated with dry sodium phenoxide, monosodium salicylate and phenetole were the only products. Similarly, sodium salicylate and anisole were obtained quantitatively from diphenyl carbonate and sodium methoxide.

It was later suggested (165) that I was an intermediate in the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction, being formed either by reaction of sodium phenoxide with the sodium phenyl carbonate or by reaction of two moles of sodium phenoxide with carbon dioxide directly. Breakdown of I may occur by either of the routes shown. No very convincing evidence was advanced to support this theory.

Sluiter (234) found that on heating diphenyl carbonate with two moles of sodium hydroxide, sodium carbonate and phenol were formed; with one mole of sodium hydroxide, phenol and phenyl sodium carbonate were formed. Approximately 60 per cent of the latter underwent immediate decomposition, at 160°C, and 1 atm., into carbon dioxide and sodium phenoxide, and 40 per cent rearranged to monosodium salicylate. These experiments were claimed to prove that sodium phenyl carbonate could act as an intermediate product in the Kolbe–Schmitt reaction (242).

Davies (52), by measurement of the carbon dioxide equilibrium pressure during the salicylic acid synthesis, concluded that two, not previously recognized "ester salts" were formed. At about 85°C, the "ester salt I" was formed from sodium phenoxide and carbon dioxide, which at 120–140°C, underwent an intramolecular conversion to "ester salt II," which rearranged to form sodium salicylate without any decrease in pressure occurring. In addition the P, T curve showed an inflexion at 190° and 4.15 atm., which Davies regarded as the quintuple point of the following five phases: monosodium salicylate, disodium salicylate, sodium phenoxide, phenol (molten phase), and carbon dioxide (gaseous phase). Later Sinkow showed (232) that the "ester salts I and II" were identical, and that the results observed by Davies and earlier workers (10) obeyed the Nernst and Clausius–Clapeyron equations, indicating a heterogeneous equilibrium. It was further suggested that the formation of p-hydroxybenzoate during the reaction would also complicate the interpretation of the results (143).

Later workers (231) examined the carbonation of dry sodium 2-naphthoxide and found that at low temperatures (40–60°C.) a reaction occurred; the product, which they considered to be sodium β-naphthyl carbonate (II), dissociated at higher temperatures into its components. At 120°C, under pressure with carbon dioxide, II rearranged to give 1-carboxy-2-sodium naphthoxide (III). Interaction of this product with itself at 145–160°C, led to the formation of disodium 2-oxy-1-naphthoate (IV), 2-naphthol, and carbon dioxide. When the reaction

mixture was heated at 200°C. the rearrangement to disodium 2-oxy-3-naphthoate (V) occurred. It was claimed, without experimental details, that the carbonation product (III) would readily absorb dry ammonia, thus confirming its structure. The intermediate carbonate (II) was considered to decompose to give "active carbon dioxide," which then carbonated the sodium naphthoxide (cf. Section IV, C). A somewhat similar mechanism for the reaction was advanced by Gershzon (85), who claimed to have prepared C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>C(=NC<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>)ONa by treating the phenyl ester of phenylcarbamic acid with sodium in boiling xylene. The

ONA 
$$+ CO_2 \xrightarrow{40-60^{\circ}\text{C.}} \longrightarrow OCOONA$$

III

COOH

ONA  $\xrightarrow{145-160^{\circ}\text{C.}} \longrightarrow CO_2 + \longrightarrow OH$ 

COONA

ONA  $\xrightarrow{ONA} \xrightarrow{ONA} \longrightarrow ONA$ 

COONA

ONA

ONA

V

sodium compound in the reaction mixture was heated in a sealed tube at 200°C. for 1 hr. and yielded about 20 per cent of salicylanilide. The 1-naphthyl and 2-naphthyl esters under similar treatment yielded the corresponding hydroxy-

$$\begin{array}{c|c} O\operatorname{CONa} & \xrightarrow{200^{\circ}\operatorname{C.}} & OH \\ \operatorname{NC}_{6}\operatorname{H}_{5} & & & & \\ \operatorname{Salicylanilide} & & & \\ \end{array}$$

naphthoic anilides. It was claimed that these experiments proved the intermediate formation of metal aryl carbonates in the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction; this claim was later shown to be without basis by Chelintsev, who found that the products arising by treatment of the phenyl ester of phenylcarbamic acid with sodium were diphenylurea and triphenyl isocyanurate (40). The triphenyl isocyanurate suggested the presence of phenyl isocyanate in the reaction mixture. It was shown that salicylanilide was formed by heating phenyl isocyanate with sodium phenoxide. Gershzon's "proof" of the mechanism is therefore invalid.

The theory of intermediate formation of a metal aryl carbonate is not supported by the observations of some recent workers (92), who consider that the initial reaction of carbon dioxide with the metal aryloxide at low temperatures

involves weak chelation of the gas with the metal to give an unstable complex. Thus the ready dissociation of the complex into its components under a vacuum or at atmospheric pressure on heating would be explained. The evolution of carbon dioxide on treatment of the complex with dry acetone (165) and on treatment with water (204) probably arises from the stronger chelating power of these solvents, leading to displacement of carbon dioxide; in the case of water subsequent reaction occurs. Acetone has been shown to form an equimolecular complex with sodium phenoxide (221), the acetone being removable under vacuum; similarly, phenol will chelate with sodium phenoxide (84).

The sodium phenoxide–carbon dioxide complex was shown to give rise to a carbonyl absorption band at 1684 cm.<sup>-1</sup> in the infrared, whereas sodium methyl carbonate, a stable recrystallizable solid, gave rise to carbonyl absorption at 1630 cm.<sup>-1</sup> Similarly, the complex prepared from carbon dioxide and sodium 2-cresoxide possesses a carbonyl absorption at around 1670 cm.<sup>-1</sup> (154). Davies (52) showed the dissociation pressure of this complex to be around 4 atm. between 120°C. and 160°C.; hence it could well be the true intermediate in the carbonation process.

#### C. DIRECT NUCLEAR CARBONATION

In 1904 it was shown (155) that the compound prepared from sodium phenoxide and carbon dioxide by Schmitt would dissociate into its components at 85°C., the vapor pressure then being about 1 atm. These workers considered that such an intermediate could not exist under the Kolbe conditions of carbonation and was also unlikely under the Schmitt conditions. Carbonation must therefore occur by direct nuclear substitution. A carbonate intermediate was,

$$ONa + CO_2 \rightarrow ONa \\ COOH$$

however, not ruled out for the carbonation of other compounds such as sodium 8-quinolyl oxide (208). Subsequently Tijmstra claimed to have proved this theory by means of the following experiments (241): (1) Only a slight increase in weight could be detected after heating sodium phenoxide at 110°C. with carbon dioxide at atmospheric pressure, indicating that no reaction had occurred. (2) Heating the carbonation product—believed to be sodium salicyloxide (VI)—with methyl iodide yielded methyl salicylate. Since o-methoxybenzoic acid readily rearranges to methyl salicylate under basic conditions this test was inconclusive. (3) The dissociation pressure of sodium salicyloxide at 180°C. after one day was found to be approximately 1 atm. Sodium salicylate at 180°C. had a dissociation pressure of only 534 mm. after two days. The difference was shown by introducing a small amount of the carbonation product into paraffin oil at 180°C.; a turbulent evolution of gas occurred. Sodium salicylate yielded no gas under similar conditions. (4) The carbonation product was found to

absorb dry ammonia, whereas sodium salicylate did not. The carbonation product after being heated for 20 hr. with water and then evaporated to dryness would still absorb ammonia. Sodium salicylate heated at 248°C, for 2.5 hr. and washed with ether (traces of phenol) also absorbed ammonia. It was considered that the rearrangement shown below had taken place:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} OH & \xrightarrow{248^{\circ}C.} & ONa \\ COONa & & COOH \end{array}$$

Tijmstra's evidence can be criticized on the grounds that the product prepared by carbonating sodium phenoxide with carbon dioxide under pressure always contains small amounts of phenol and sodium bicarbonate when moisture is not rigorously excluded from the autoclave (92). The presence of these by-products would explain the observations listed under 3 and 4 above. Furthermore, monosodium salicylate heated at 220°C. and above is converted into a mixture of disodium salicylate, phenol, and carbon dioxide (123, 176). Tijmstra's conclusions are therefore doubtful.

Similar doubtful conclusions have been reached in the case of the carbonation of sodium 2-naphthoxide (219), where direct nuclear carbonation is postulated. The sodium hydroxynaphthoate first formed is considered to decompose into its components at higher temperatures (280°C.) with recarbonation of the nucleus to give sodium 2-hydroxy-3-naphthoate, the latter then undergoing reaction with a further molecule of sodium 2-naphthoxide to yield disodium 2-oxy-3-naphthoate and free 2-naphthol. This mechanism appears unlikely, since it has been shown that quantitative conversion of disodium 2-oxy-1-naphthoate to the 2-oxy-3-naphthoate occurs at 300°C. (113).

Tijmstra's formulation of the carbonation product in the phenol series as sodium salicyloxide (VI) has been shown (92) to be untenable on the basis of its infrared spectrum. This, however, does not rule out the possibility that the original hypothesis of direct nuclear carbonation may represent the first step in the reaction, and that subsequent interchange of hydrogen and sodium ions (or atoms) occurs, giving sodium salicylate as the final product.

### D. TAUTOMERIC REARRANGEMENT

By analogy with the reaction of carbon dioxide with the metal enolates of some ketones (29) to give  $\beta$ -keto acids, Hückel suggested (118) that the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction proceeded by the addition of carbon dioxide to the mesomeric phenoxy or naphthoxy anion, the predominance of the mesomeric form being governed by the alkali metal used.

This idea has also been advanced to explain the different carbonation products of sodium 2-naphthoxide at different temperatures (132). It is considered that, with increasing temperatures, one of the resonance forms of the naphthoxide ion becomes more predominant than the others, thus giving rise to the different products.

The postulated products for carbon dioxide addition are:

$$OCOON_a = ON_a = ON_a$$

No direct experimental evidence is at present available on which to judge the correctness of these views.

### E. CHELATE FORMATION AND ELECTROPHILIC SUBSTITUTION

Johnson (131) found that benzylmagnesium chloride often reacted with various compounds to give abnormally the o-tolyl derivatives, and by analogy suggested that the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction proceeded by the mechanism illustrated in the sequence below. The primary addition product was considered to be bound by a coordinate linkage, the activated molecule then substituting at

$$\begin{array}{c}
\text{ONa} \\
\text{C=O} \\
\text{O}
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
\text{ONa} \\
\text{H} \\
\text{C}
\end{array}$$

$$\begin{array}{c}
\text{OH} \\
\text{CONa} \\
\text{O}
\end{array}$$

the ortho position with stabilization of the transition stage by ring formation. Luttringhaus (158), on the basis of his results on rearrangement during the fission of ethers by means of alkali metals, tentatively suggested that during the Reimer-Tiemann aldehyde synthesis and the Kolbe-Schmitt salicylic acid synthesis a cyclic stage was involved, leading to ortho substitution, viz:

$$\begin{bmatrix}
O \\ C = O \\
Na \\
H
\end{bmatrix}$$

$$\rightarrow
\begin{bmatrix}
O \\ C \\
NaO
\end{bmatrix}$$

$$\rightarrow
\begin{bmatrix}
O \\ C \\
Na
\end{bmatrix}$$

$$C \rightarrow O$$

In the case of potassium phenoxide under these conditions, owing to the limited degree of chemical stability and also to the greater ionic volume of potassium,

p-hydroxybenzoate will result. A cyclic intermediate has also been postulated by other workers (198) during the carbonation of ester enolates. This reaction mechanism, shown below, involves the formation of a four-membered ring intermediate.

$$C_6H_5$$
 OCH<sub>3</sub>  $C_6H_5$  OCH<sub>3</sub>  $C_6H_5$  OCH<sub>3</sub>
 $C=C$ 
 $C_6H_6$  ONa  $\rightarrow$  C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>  $\downarrow$   $\rightarrow$  C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>5</sub>  $\downarrow$  O=CONa
 $C_6H_6$  O=C=O
 $C_6H_6$  O=CONa

Now it is known that phenol will undergo carbonation under Kolbe-Schmitt conditions only in the form of the alkali metal phenoxide (135). In the Marasse modification of the reaction (see Section II, C above), where the free phenol is heated with anhydrous carbonate and carbon dioxide under pressure, it has been shown that phenoxide formation is a necessary prelude to reaction (254). It therefore seems likely that this type of carbonation involves electrophilic attack on the ortho carbon atom (220). Presumably a similar process can operate when carbonation is carried out in phenol solution; here one of the phenol molecules of the sodium phenoxide-phenol solvate would be displaced by a molecule of carbon dioxide, with subsequent attack on the ortho position.

A mechanism based on the preliminary association of sodium phenoxide with carbon dioxide under pressure to form a complex, and involving intramolecular reaction with displacement of the ortho hydrogen by electrophilic attack has been suggested (92). If the transition stage involves a  $\pi$ -complex, and the oxygen atom in solid sodium phenoxide is coplanar with the benzene ring so that its "lone pair" electrons can take part in a molecular  $\pi$ -electron orbital, then the proton displaced onto the  $\pi$ -electron system would migrate to the phenolic oxygen (55).

$$\begin{array}{c} \text{ONa} & \text{O} & \text{O} \\ \text{O} & \text{O} & \text{ONa} \\ \text{O} & \text{O} & \text{O} \\ \text{O} \\ \text{O} & \text{O} \\ \text{O} & \text{O} \\ \text{O}$$

# V. APPLICATION OF THE KOLBE-SCHMITT REACTION

### A. AROMATIC SERIES

In general, as with other electrophilic reactions, the presence of alkyl groups in the aromatic nucleus promotes ortho carbonation in phenols with high yields of product. The effect is most marked with para-substituted and less so for orthosubstituted alkylphenols. The reactivity, however, is modified by a steric hindrance factor. Where the hydroxyl is flanked by two ortho alkyl substituents only a low yield of the para-carbonated compound is obtained. Similarly, with two alkyl substituents both in the meta positions, only low yields of the orthocarbonated product are realized. These results are exemplified in the case of the xylenols (6, 36, 179, 254). Where both the ortho and the para positions carry alkyl substituents no carbonation occurs (128). Phenyl groups ortho or para to the hydroxyl promote high yields of the ortho-carbonated product, while parasubstituted aroyl groups have a deactivating effect with consequent reduced yields of the acid. Some differences arising from the use of different alkali metal derivatives of the alkylphenols have already been given in Section III, C.

For other substituents in the phenolic nucleus it can be stated that, in general, electron-donating substituents facilitate the carbonation reaction, while electron-withdrawing substituents retard or inhibit carbonation. Thus the presence of amino, methoxyl, or additional hydroxyl groups usually enables the reaction to be carried out at lower temperatures and with increased yields of products. The halogen-substituted phenols can be carbonated under both Kolbe-Schmitt and Marasse conditions, the o-, m-, and p-fluoro-, chloro-, and bromophenols giving satisfactory yields, whereas low yields are obtained from the o-, m-, and p-iodophenols (6, 254). In the case of o-fluorophenols ortho and para carbonation occurs, the relative amounts depending on the alkali metal used (Section III, C) (76).

In contrast, electron-withdrawing substituents such as nitro, nitrile, and carboxylate ion retard carbonation. Thus *m*-nitrophenol gives only a 19 per cent yield of acid under Marasse conditions (254), while the *o*- and *p*-nitro- and *o*-cyanophenols are inert (128, 129). Carboxylate ions and acyl groups have a lower deactivating effect on the ring, however, and can often be carbonated at higher temperatures.

### B. HETEROCYCLIC SERIES

Carbonation of the heterocyclic aromatic nucleus has been less extensively studied than carbonation of the carbocyclic aromatic series, and the number of successful carbonations reported in the literature is relatively small.

In the pyridine series 2-, 3-, and 4-hydroxypyridines have been carbonated under Kolbe-Schmitt or Marasse conditions. In the former instance parasubstitution occurs exclusively (6, 244), while the second compound gives the ortho or para acid depending on the reaction conditions; the third compound gives only the ortho mono- or dicarboxylic acid (6, 21, 22).

Carbonation of the heterocyclic nucleus of hydroxyquinolines or hydroxy-isoquinolines has not yet been reported. However, 6-hydroxy- and 8-hydroxy-quinoline can be successfully carbonated in the carbocyclic aromatic nucleus (206, 208). The known lower reactivity of quinoline compounds, as well as reduced mobility of the metal through chelation, has been suggested as a reason for the failure of carbonation experiments (86).

Pyrrole is well known to behave analogously to phenol and it was early found that 2-pyrrolecarboxylic acid was formed by heating pyrrole with aqueous ammonium carbonate in a sealed tube (46). The same product admixed with the 3-carboxylic acid was also obtained by heating potassium pyrrole in a stream of carbon dioxide at 200–220°C. The potassium derivatives of 2- and 3-methyl-pyrrole could similarly be carbonated (41, 42, 43, 47, 48). Potassium carbazole carbonated by a similar process was initially thought to give the carbamic acid (VII), but the product was later shown to be 1-carbazolecarboxylic acid (VIII), identical with the substance obtained by treating the Grignard reagent with carbon dioxide (26, 45).

A number of other miscellaneous hydroxy heterocyclic aromatic compounds have been carbonated by the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction, including 2-hydroxy-carbazole and tetrahydro-7-hydroxynaphthylcarbazole, but no systematic study has been carried out.

### C. OTHER COMPOUNDS

The carbonation of the metal enolates of cyclic and aliphatic ketones bears some analogy to that of metal aryloxides, and a postulated mechanism for the carbon dioxide addition has already been referred to (page 600). The earliest experiments along these lines were the preparation of camphorcarboxylic and cyclohexanonecarboxylic acids by treatment of the ketone with sodium or sodium amide and carbon dioxide (8, 24, 25, 29, 30, 146).

Camphorearboxylic acid

2-Cyclohexanonecarboxylic acid

A similar procedure was used to prepare ecgonine and  $\psi$ -tropine- $\theta$ -carboxylic acid from tropinone (260).

A more extensive investigation of the possibility of carbonating cyclohexanone and its derivatives was carried out in 1910, and the successful preparation of 2-cyclohexanonecarboxylic acid, 1-methylcyclohexan-2-one-3-carboxylic acid, dl- and l-1-methylcyclohexan-3-one-4-carboxylic acid, 1-methylcyclohexan-4-one-3-carboxylic acid, and d-isomenthonedicarboxylic acid was reported (83). A recent attempt to carbonate tropolone was unsuccessful (51, 86).

An interesting extension of the carbonation reaction to the preparation of 2-ketocarboxylic acids from dialkyl or alkyl aryl ketones has been recently reported (153). The sodium enolate was prepared by treatment of the ketone with sodium amide in liquid ammonia. A two-step mechanism involving addition of carbon dioxide to the ketonic anion was suggested:

(1) 
$$RCOCH_3 + NaNH_2 \rightarrow (RCOCH_2)^-Na^+ + NH_3$$

(2) 
$$CO_2 + (RCOCH_2)^-Na^+ \rightarrow RCOCH_2COO^-Na^+$$

In general, carbonations of the type discussed are favored by anhydrous conditions and low temperatures, ether and ligroin being the preferred solvents.

### VI. TABULATION OF COMPOUNDS CARBONATED

Tables 7 to 12 present data on the following classes of compounds which have been carbonated: mononuclear monohydric phenols, mononuclear polyhydric phenols, dinuclear phenols, polynuclear phenols, heterocycles, and ketones.

The information quoted in these tables is taken from the initial reference given; subsequent references give alternative methods of preparation or additional information. The range of compounds included is as extensive as possible, but no claim is made that the tables are complete. A number of Kolbe-Schmitt

TABLE 7
Mononuclear monohydric phenols

i		Conditions	ous				
Phenoi	Metal or Marasse	Tempera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub> pressure	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		ç	afm.	hours		per cent	
2-Methyl	Na	200	40	9	3-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	70	(254, 6, 17, 64, 65, 112, 125, 134, 248)
•	×	200	40	4	3-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic seid	95	(254 8 32)
			!	•	5-Methyl-4-hydroxyisophthalic acid	14	(m 'o 'r om)
3-Methyl	Z.	125	100	œ	4-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic soid	20	(8 15 17 195)
	M	175	100	4	4-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	28	(8)
4-Methyl	Na	500	40	9	5-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	\$2	(254, 6, 17, 125, 142, 197)
	M	500	40	4	5-Methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	91	(254, 6, 36)
3-Trifluoromethyl	M	220	20	240	3-Trifluoromethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	88	(64)
2-Ethyl	Na	{	1	ı	3-Ethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(12)
3-Ethyl	M	175	100	4	4-Ethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	88	(9)
4-Ethyl	Na	1	1	I	5-Ethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(12)
2-n-Propyl	N 8	140	-	1	3-n-Propyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	I	(236)
4-n-Propyl	Na	140	-	I	5-n-Propyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	[	(236)
2-Isopropyl	Na	150	1	ı	3-Isopropyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	ı	(79)
4-Isopropyl	Na	145	-	œ	5-Isopropyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(181)
2-n-Butyl	Na R			1	3-n-Butyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	!	(254)
					3-n-Butyl-2-hydroxyisophthalic acid	1	
4-Isobutyl.	Na	160	1	4	5-Isobutyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	93	(56)
4-tert-Butyl	Na	150	100	80	5-tert-Butyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	74	(9)
	M	200	90	4	5-tert-Butyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	06	(9)
2-n-Amyl	8 N		1	ı	3-n-Amyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(254)
4-n-Amyl	\$ Z		1	I	5-n-Amyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(254)
2-Allyl*	Na	140	20	1	3-Allyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid		(74)
4-(2-Butenyl)*	N <sub>B</sub>	140	20	-	4-(2-Butenyl)-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(74)
2-Methoxy	M	200	100	4	3-Methoxy-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	47	(6, 185)
3-Methoxy	M	200	100	4	4-Methoxy-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	61	(9)
4-Methoxy	M	150	901	4	5-Methoxy-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	06	(9)
2-Ethoxy	×	185	<b>x</b>	1	3-Ethoxy-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	40	(185)
4-Propionyl	M	175	100	4	5-Propionyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	25	(9)
2-Carboxy	Na (di)	400	-	24	4-Hydroxyisophthalic acid	1	(177, 178)
					6-Hydroxytrimeric acid	ı	
2-Carbomethoxy	z Z	150	1	24	2-Hydroxy-3-carbomethoxybenzoic acid	İ	(209) (110)
3-Carbethoxy	ğ	170	1	1	2-Hydroxy-4-carbethoxybenzoic acid	1	(209, 110)
, O - L	_						

Carbothown	Ž	170			9 Hardman E conhothourshounds		(900 110)
+ Can Decidory	22.1		} ;	'	2-119 410A -3-641 DemoAy DemoOle Beld	1	(203, 110)
2-Fluoro	Z.	160	23	9	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	89	(76, 35)
					3-Fluoro-4-hydroxybenzoic acid	29	
	Ж	160	53	9	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	25	(76, 6)
					3-Fluoro-4-hydroxybenzoic acid	75	
	Ŀ	160	22	9	3-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	70	(75)
3-Fluoro.	Na	175	100	<b>∞</b>	4-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	59	(9)
	M	175	901	4	4-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	72	(9)
4-Fluoro	Z,	175	100	80	5-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	44	(9)
	M	225	901	4	5-Fluoro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	77	(9)
2-Chloro	Na	150	100	œ	3-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	64	(6, 245)
	M	175	90	4	3-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	72	(6, 254)
3-Chloro	Na	175	901	×	4-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	89	(6, 245)
	M	175	001	*	4-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	89	(6, 254)
4-Chloro	Na	150	<u>8</u>	œ	5-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	69	(6, 245)
	M	175	901	+	5-Chloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	83	(6, 254)
2-Bromo	Na	175	901	∞	3-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	64	(9)
	М	175	100	4	3-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	64	(9)
3-Bromo	Na	175	100	8	4-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	<b>9</b> 8	(9)
	M	175	100	4	4-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	51	(9)
4-Bromo	Ns	175	100	<b>∞</b>	5-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	2	(9)
	M	175	100	**	5-Bromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	7.9	(6, 254)
2-Iodo	W	125	100	∞	3-Iodo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	31	(9)
3-Iodo.	×	125	901	∞	4-Iodo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	35	(9)
4-Iodo	M	125	901	œ	5-Iodo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	9	(9)
2-Amino	×	220	20	14	3-Amino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	32	(253)
3-Aminot	KHCO1	96	i	9	4-Amino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid (PAS)	<b>%</b>	(66, 5, 14, 57, 59, 77, 101, 102, 103, 119, 133,
							149, 163, 186, 187, 188, 189, 190, 226, 237, 238, 239, 249, 250, 253, 255)
4-Amino	M	200	25	∞	5-Amino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	92	(253)
3-Methylaminof	KHCO3	96	60	96	4-Methylamino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	20	(58)
3-Diethylamino	M	175	100	<b>∞</b>	4-Diethylamino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	19	(9)
3-Allylaminot	KHCO3	96	es	06	4-Allylamino-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	20	(28)
2-Acetamido	×	175	100	<del>-</del> †	3-Acetamido-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	=	(9)
3-Acetamido	×	175	100	₹	4-Acetannido-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	33	(9)
4 Acetamido	M	500	921	∞	5-Acetamido-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	7.	(9)
2-Nitro	M	210	40	4	No carbonation	0	(254)
3-Nitro	M	210	40	4	4-Nitro-2-hydroxybenzoie acid	10	(254)
4-Nitro	M	210	40	4	No carbonation	0	(254)

• Naphtha or dioxane used as solvent.
† Water used as solvent.

TABLE 7—Concluded

-		Conditions	ous		t -		ŝ
Phenol	Metal or Marassc	Tempera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub> pressure	Time of heating	rroducts	V leid	Keterences
		Ç	atm.	hours		per cent	
2-Cvano	Z	210	9	-	No earbonation	0	(254)
2.4-Dimethyl	ž	240	13	40	3,5-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	17	(179)
2,5-Dimethyl	Z.	240	35	40	3,6-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	72	(179, 175)
	M	175	100	4	3, 6-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	25	(9)
2,6-Dimethyl	Z	200	40	9	3,5-Dimethyl-4-hydroxybenzoic acid	37	(254)
3,4-Dimethyl	Na	200	9	9	4,5-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	68	(254, 179)
,	N	200	9	4	4,5-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	93	(254, 6)
3,5-Dimethyl	Na	300	9	9	4, 6-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	30	(254, 179, 81)
	M	200	40	9	4, 6-Dimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	93	(254, 6)
2-Methyl-4-isopropyl	Na	i	_	1	3-Methyl-5-isopropyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	!	(130, 142)
2-Methyl-5-isopropyl.	Na	1	_	1	3-Methyl-6-isopropyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	!	(157)
	Na	140	-	r.	6-Methyl-3-isopropyl-2-hydroxyhenzoic acid	Quantitative	(235)
2-Methoxy-4-methyl.	×	200	901	777	3-Methoxy-5-methyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	69	(9)
3,5 Dimethoxy	Na.	1	1	1	4,6-Dimethoxy-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	ı	(105)
2-Bromo-4 tert butyl	Na	200	100	œ	3-Bromo-5-tert-butyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	58	9
	M	175	9	4	3-Bromo-5-tert-butyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	46	(9)
4-Chiloro 2-allyi*	Na	140	20	ı	5-Chloro-3-allyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(74)
5-Chloro-2 allyl*	Na	140	20		6-Chloro 3-allyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	ı	(74)
4-Chloro-2-propenyl*	Z	05:1	20	i	5-Chloro-3-propenyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	i	(74)
2,4-Dichloro	Na	200	100	<b>∞</b>	3,5-Dichloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	59	(9)
	M	200	100	47	3,5-Dichloro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	45	(9)
2.4-Dibromo	M	175	100	4	3,5-Dibromo-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	38	(6)
2-Amino-4-nitro	M	175	100	4	3-Amino-5-nitro-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	20	(9)
2-Methoxy-4-formyl	M	175	100	4	3-Methoxy-5-formyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	57	(9)
2, 3, 5-Trimethyl	Na	1	1		3,4,6-Trimethyl-2-hydroxybenzoic acid	1	(254)
o A E This cother	N	981		ļ	3.5.6. Trimethyl. 2. hydroxybenzoje seid	33	(148)

\* Naphtha or dioxane used as solvent.

† Xylene used as solvent.

TABLE 8
Mononuclear polyhydric phenols

		Conditions				ļ	
Сотроин	Metal or Marasse	Tem- pera- ture	CO2 pres- sure	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		٥.	atm.	hours		per	
1, 2-Dihydroxybenzene	Na (di)	145	56	55	2,3-Dibydroxybenzoic acid	28	(39, 209)
	M	225	100	4	2,3-Dihydroxybenzoic acid	7.5	(6, 32, 164, 183, 254)
	<b>X</b>	225	901	œ	2,3-Dihydroxyterephthalic acid	28	
1-Methyl-2, 3-dihydroxybenzene	M	175	50	22	4-Methyl-2, 3-dihydroxybenzoic acid		(254)
					4-Methyl-2, 3-dihydroxyisophthalic acid	Ξ	
1-Methyl-3,4-dihydroxybenzene	N	250	20	15	5-Methyl-2,3-dihydroxybenzoic acid	ł	(254)
					5-Methyl-2, 3-dihydroxyterephthalie acid	20	
1,3-Dihydroxyhenzene*	M	500	9	<del>-</del>	4,6-Dihydroxyisophthalic acid	4.	(6, 36, 254)
	KHC02	130	27	3.5	2,4-Dihydroxybenzoie acid	2	(91, 19, 172, 222, 225, 227)
					2,6-Dihydroxybenzoic acid	47	
1-Methyl-2, 4-diby droxy benzene*	KHCO3 or NaHCO3			0.25	3-Methyl-2,6(or 4,6)-dihydroxybenzoic acid	i	(144)
1-Methyl-3,5-dihydroxybenzene	- E	210	æ	<u>±</u>	4-Methyl-2, 6 dihydroxybenzoic acid	96	(254, 182, 216, 223)
1-Methyl-2, 6-dihydroxybenzene	"Z"	081	1	ıc	3-Methyl-2, 4-dihydroxybenzoic acid		(104)
1,3-Dimethyl-4,6-dihydroxybenzem*	NallCOs	130			3,5-Dimethyl-2,6-dihydroxybenzoic acid	!	(145)
1-Amino-3,5-dihydroxybenzene*	кнсо,	8	į	9	4-Amino-2, 6-dihydroxybenzoic acid	i	(211)
1,4-Dihydroxybenzene	×	160	97	,c	2,5-Dihydroxybenzoic acid	22	(254, 6, 32, 227)
		_			2,5-Dihydroxyterephthalic acid	34	
1-Methyl-2, 5-dihydroxybenzene	KHCOs	180		İ	4-Methyl-2, 5-dihydroxybenzoic acid	ļ	(200, 31)
1,2,3-Trihydroxybenzene*	KHCO2	130	;	i	2,3,4-Trihydroxybenzoic acid	70	(144, 6, 224, 240, 247, 259)
	N	200	9	rc.	2,3,4-Trihydroxyisophthalic acid	92	(254)
3,4,5 Trihydroxybenzoic neidi	KHCO.	180	_	13	2, 3, 4-Trihydroxyisophthalic acid	1	(32)
1,2,4-Trihydroxybenzene*	NaHCO <sub>2</sub>	90	-	1.5	2, 4, 5-Trihydroxybenzoic acid	33	(240, 254)
1,3,5-Trihydroxybenzene*	KHCO	001		10 min.	2, 4, 6-Trihydroxy benzoic acid	55	(116, 32, 174, 233, 254, 258, 259)
1-Methyl-2, 4, 6-trihydroxybenzene	KHCO,	20	I	1	3-Methyl-2, 4, 6-trihydroxybenzoic acid	 	(213)
1,3-Dimethyl-2,4,6-trihydroxybenzene*	KIICO,	98		;	3,5-Dimethyl-2,4,6-trihydroxybeuzoic acid	1	(20)
	_	_		_	_	_	

\* Water used as solvent.

TABLE 9
Dinuclear phenols

				2	Different presents		
	Cond	Conditions					
Phenol	Metal or Marasse	Tem- pera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub> pres- sure	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		°C.	atm.	hours		per cent	
1-Naphthol	Na	135	36		1-Hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	92	(4, 33, 62, 63, 106, 174, 194, 203,
	×	160	20	i	1-Hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	83	207) (254, 54, 185)
2-Naphthol	Na	130	1	1	2-Hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid	96	(207, 33, 106, 147, 174, 195, 196,
	M	160	20	ı	2-Hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid		(254, 185)
	Na	235	1	10	2-Hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	79	(115, 11, 34, 70, 108, 113, 147,
Account to							231)
	К	230	I	8	2-Hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	1	(3)
					2-Hydroxy-6-naphthoic acid	9	
3-Methyl-1-naphthol*		100	i	9	3-Methyl-1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	1	(161)
5-Methyl-2-naphthol		160	22	S	5-Methyl-2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid		(61, 156)
	Na	240	52	9	5-Methyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	1	(61)
6-Methyl-2-naphthol		250	22	1	6-Methyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(156)
7-Methyl-2-naphthol		250	20	1	7-Methyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	!	(156)
8-Methyl-2-naphthol	Na	250	20		8-Methyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(156)
6-Ethyl-2-naphthol	Nu	250	S	ļ	6-Ethyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	 	(156)
6-n-Propyl-2-napthol		250	22	ı	6-n-Propyl-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(156)
5-Methoxy-1-naphthol		220	1	ဗ	5-Methoxy-1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	96	(114)
5-Methoxy-2-naphthol	Næ	260	20	10	5-Methoxy-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(28)
6-Methoxy-2-naphthol	N. S.	260	23	01	6-Methoxy-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(27)
7-Methoxy-2-naphthol	Na	260	20	10	7-Methoxy-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	1	(27)
6-Methylmercapto-2-naphthol	Na	280	09	10	6-Methylmercapto-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid		(27)
5-Amino-1-naphthol	K	120	4		5-Amino-1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	1	(261)
4-Amino-2-naphthol*	Na	110	1	ļ	4-Amino-2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid	l	(53)
	K	120	6	1	4-Amino-2-hydroxy-1-naphthoic acid	-	(53)
6-Carboxy-2-naphthol	K	250	120	10	2-Hydroxynaphthalene-3, 6-dicarboxylic acid	1	(263)
5, 6, 7, 8-Tetrahydro-1-naphthol	M	160	10	9	5, 6, 7, 8-Tetrahydro-1-hydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	1	(214)
5, 6, 7, 8-Tetrahydro-2-naphthol	×	170	1	9	5, 6, 7, 8-Tetrahydro-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	20	(214)
	M	160	10	9	5, 6, 7, 8-Tetrahydro-2-hydroxy-3-naphthoic acid	8	(214)
1,2-Dihydroxynaphthalene	Na (di) or K (di)	150	ł	20	3,4-Dihydroxy-2-naphthoic acid		(193)
1,4-Dihydroxynaphthalene	Na (di)	170	1	98	1,4-Dihydroxy-2-naphthoic acid	8	(192, 100)
1,5-Dihydroxynaphthalene	M (KHCO <sub>2</sub> )	230	1	œ	1,5-Dihydroxynaphthalene- $x,x$ -dicarboxylic acid	1	(95, 96)
			1			-	The second secon

TABLE 9—Concluded

	Conditions	tions					
Phenol	Metal or Marasse	Tem- pera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub> pres- sure	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		ڻ ث	atm.	hours		per	
1 6 Dil. 3	CONA sult HOA/ N	160		ĸ	1 & Dibuduant anontholo soid		(95)
I, 6-Dinydroxynaphthalene	M. (ACH pius hace)	201	 	,	1, 0-Dilly droxy - Triaghtenine actual		(39)
1,7-Dinydroxynaphthalene	N= (di) or id (di)	<u> </u>			1. C. Dibadows & naphenoic acid		(100)
1,8-Dihydroxynaphthalene	Na (di) or K (di)	₽1	!		1,0-Linyuroxy-x-inapinuiote aciu		(109)
2,7-Dihydroxynaphthalene	Na	1	1	۱.	3,6-Dibydroxy-Z-naphthoic acid		(201)
2-Hydroxybiphenyl	M	<u>8</u>	8	٠.	2-Hydroxybiphenyl-3-carboxylic acid	<del>2</del>	(246, 6, 111)
2-Hydroxy-5-ethylbiphenyl	M	225	l	14	2-Hydroxy-5-ethylbiphenyl-3-carboxylic acid	55	(111)
2-Hydroxy-5-n-propylbiphenyl	M	225	1	14	2-Hydroxy-5-n-propylbiphenyl-3-carboxylic acid	49	(111)
2-Hydroxy-5-n-hexylbiphenyl	M	225	1	14	2-Hydroxy-5-n-hexylbiphenyl-3-carboxylic acid	6	(111)
4-Hydroxybiphenyl	M	250	30	z,	4-Hydroxybiphenyl-3-carboxylic acid	96	(246, 6)
4-Hvdroxv-3-allylbiphenyl	Na Pa	140	50	1	4-Hydroxy-3-allylbiphenyl-5-carboxylic acid		(74)
4 4'-Dihydroxybiphenyl	Na (di)	200	1	6	4.4'-Dihydroxybiphenyl-x.x-dicarboxylic acid	1	(210)
9 Credebovrinhenel	Ì	175	100	4	2- Hydroxy-3-evelohexylbenzoic acid	69	. (9)
4 II. 1 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:- 1:-		146	3 5		A Hydroxypinhonyrlmothene 2 nerhovylie neid	3 %	(9)
4-III) droxy dipheny imethane		91	3	+	TALLY GLOAD OLD BOLLS HILLS HIGH HOLD CONTROL OF THE ACID	3	
z, z'-Dinydroxydiphenyl-	,	Ş		;		Ş	(00)
methane	M	132	<u></u>	×	z, zDihydroxydiphenyimethane-5-carboxylic acid	<u>s</u> .	(38)
					2, 2Dihydroxydiphenylmethane-3, 3'(f)-dicarboxylic acid	o	
4, 4'- Dihydroxydiphenyl-	ļ	i					(0.0)
methane	¥	170	105	6.5	4,4'-Dihydroxydiphenylmethane-3-carboxylic acid	1 8	(38)
					4, 4. Unhydroxydiphenylmethane-3, 3'-dicarboxylic acid	728	
2,2'-Dihydroxy-5,5'-dimethyl-							
diphenylmethane	W	155	112	24	2, 2'-Dihydroxy-5, 5'-dimethyldiphenylmethane-3-car-	*	(38)
					boxylic seid	į	
					2, 2'-Dibydroxy-5, 5'-dimethyldiphenylmethane-3, 3'-di-	35	
					Cardoxylic acid		
3-Hydroxydiphenyl ether	_	220	1	1	3-Hydroxydiphenyl-ether-4-carboxylic acid	,	(191)
Diphenylurea	W	280	25	ıç.	2-Aminobenzoic acid	2 2 2	(136)
					4-Aminobenzoic acid	91	
					3-Phenylquinazoline-2, 4-dione	ı	
4 Hydroxybenzophenone	¥	200	8	90	4-Hydroxybenzophenone-3-carboxylic acid	33	(9)
4, 4'- Dihydroxybenzophenone	M	250	8	œ	4, 4'-Dihydroxybenzophenone-3-carboxylic acid	54	(9)
2-Benzamidophenol		175	901	**	2-Hydroxy-3-benzamidobenzoic acid	7	(9)
	M	175	89	4	2-Hydroxy-4-benzamidobenzoic acid	28	(9)
4-Benzamidophenol	M	230	901	<b>∞</b>	2-Hydroxy-5-benzamidobenzoic acid	<b>&amp;</b>	(9)
3-Benzylaminophenol	Na	130	100	12	2-Hydroxy-4-benzylaminobenzoic acid	10	(58)
4-Benzylaminophenol	<b>X</b>	175	100	œ	2- Hydroxy-5-benzylaminobenzoic acid	12	(9)
4 Phonylezophenol	¥	175	2	4	2. Hydroxy-5-phenylazobenzoje acid	42	(9)
4-r neny azopuenoi	E 2	710	3		A Hadronich admin done & combounds and	3	(3)
4- Hydroxyhydrindene	8 N	I	_    -	 	4-11ydroxynydrindene-5-carboxync acid	_   	(\$67)

\* Toluene used as solvent.

TABLE 10 Polynuclear phenols

		Conditions	St		,		
Compound	Metal or Marasse	Tempera- ture	CO2 pressure	Time of heating	Products	y reld	Kelerences
		, , ,	atm.	hours		per cent	
N Hydroxyduorene	Na or M	200	m	12	3-Hydroxyfluorene-2-carboxylic acid	:	(170)
horene	Na or M	300	က	13	6-Methyl-3-hydroxyfluorene-2-carboxylic acid	i	(170)
	Na or M	500	e:	22	?-Methoxy-3-hydroxyfluorene-2-carboxylic acid		(170)
	Na or M	200	ກ	2	6,7-Benzo-3-hydroxyfluorene-2-carboxylie acid		(120)
	z,	250	15	9	2-Hydroxy-1-phenanthroic acid	:: :	(251, 167)
	Z.	350	30	9	3-Hydroxy-2-phenanthroic acid	57	(251, 167)
	z Z	220	l	ţ	1-Hydroxyanthracene-2-carboxylic acid		(150)
		220	99	æ	8 Hydroxyfluoranthene-9-carboxylic acid	1	(13)
Detroine M		230	9	14	Estronemonocarboxylic acid	31	(252)
Distantal hostrol		200	40	i	Diethylstilbestroldicarboxylic acid	22	(252)
Hexestrol		260	40	12	Hexestroldicarboxylic acid	28	(252)

TABLE 11 Heterocycles

		Conditions	suo			! !	
Compound	Metal or Marasse	Tem- pera- ture	CO, pres- sure	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		°C.	atm.	hours		per cent	!
2-Hydroxypyridine	ž	200	20	-	2. Hydroxypyridine-5-carboxylic acid		(244)
	N	250	130	<b>x</b>	2-Hydroxypyridine-5-carboxylic acid	45	(9)
3-Hydroxypyridine	ž	220	45	6	3-Hydroxypyridine-2-carboxylic acid	22	(E)
	7	220	45	<i>\$</i> .	3-Hydroxypyridine-2-carboxylic acid		(22)
					5-Hydroxypyridine 2-earboxylic acid	24	
	¥	215	45	G.	5-Hydroxypyridine-2-carboxylic acid	87	(22)
4-Hydroxypyridine	ž	220	20		4-Hydroxypyridine-3-carboxylic acid	52	(21)
	×	230	20		4 Hydroxypyridine-3-carboxylic acid	34	(21)
					4-Hydroxypyridine-3,5 diearboxylic acid	4	
2-Hydroxyquinoline	Na, K. M	1	1	i	No carbonation		(244, 86)
6 Hydroxyquinoline	Za	175	:	∞	No carbonation	;	(206)
	X	170	i	-1	6-Hydroxyquinoline-5-carboxylic acid	8	(206)
8-Hydroxyquinoline	Z	150	!	<b>x</b>	8-Hydroxyquinoline 2-carboxylic acid	95	(208)
	Z	700	130	4	8-Hydroxyquinoline-2-earboxylic acid	57	(9)
Pyrrole	2	750		:	Pyrrole-2-carboxylic acid	20	(41, 47, 48)
					Pyrrole-3-carboxylic acid		
2-Methylpyrrole	<b>'</b>	500		23	2-Methylpyrrole-3-carboxylic acid		(42)
4-Methylpyrrole	¥	500		Ç1	4-Methylpyrrole-2(or 3)-carboxylic acid	:	(42)
6-Hydroxy-2,3-diphenylindole	W	220	9	æ	6-Hydroxy-3, 3-diphenylindole-5-carboxylic acid		(2)
8-Hydroxy 2,3-dimethyl-α-naphthindole	M	550	99	œ	8-Hydroxy.2,3-dimethyl-x-nuphthindole-7 eurboxylie acid		Ē
8-Hydroxy 2-methyl 3 ethyl-α-naphthindole	M	220	99	8	8-Hydroxy-2-methyl-3-ethyl-a-naphthindole-7-carboxylic acid		(2)
7-Hydroxy-2-phenyl-α-naphthindole	M	520	8	×	7-Hydroxy-2-phenyl-a-naphthindole-8-carboxylic acid		(1)
8 Hydroxy-2-phenyl-a-naphthindole	N	550	99	æ	8-Hydroxy-2-phenyl-\alpha-naphthindole-7-carboxylic acid		(7)
('arbazole	Y.	270	-	۵.	Carbazole-2-carboxylic acid	91	(45, 37)
1-Hydroxyearbazole	z s	220	9	24	1-Hydroxycarbazole-2-carboxylic acid	:	(199
2. Hydroxyearbazole*	×	150	4	!	2-Hydroxyearbazole-3-carboxylic acid	82	(261, 199)
2-Hydroxy 9 methylcarbazole	ž	220	2	<b>9</b>	2-Hydroxy-9-methylcarhazole-3-carboxylic acid		(168)
2-Hydroxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-α-benzocarba-							
zole	M	220	93	эc	2-Hydroxy-7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-α-benzocarbazole-3-carboxylic acid		(71)
2-Hydroxy-9-ethylcarbazole	z R	220	15	9	2-Hydroxy-9-ethylcarbazole-3-carboxylic acid		(891)

• Dichlorobenzene used 18 solvent.

TABLE 11—Concluded

		Conditions	ons				
Compound	Metal or Marasse	Tem- pera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub> pres-	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		ڼ	atm.	Lours		per cent	
3'-Hydroxy-7,8-benzocarbazole*	Я	200	11	6	3'-Hydroxy-7,8-benzocarbazole-2'-carboxylic acid	09	(261)
1,8-Dihydroxycarbazole	KHCO2	200	20	20	1,8-Dihydroxycarbazole-2,7-dicarboxylic acid	: ]	(661)
6-Hydroxy.2-phenylbenzothiazole	M	220	65		6-Hydroxy-2-phenylbenzothiazole-5-carboxylic acid	1	(212)
7-Hydroxy-2-methyl- $\alpha$ -naphthothiazole	M	220	65	١	7-Hydroxy-2-methyl- $\alpha$ -naphthothiazole-8-carboxylic acid		(212)
8-Hydroxy-2-methyl-α-naphthothiazole	M	220	65	!	8-Hydroxy-2-methyl- $\alpha$ -naphthothiazole-7-carboxylic acid	1	(212)
2-Hydroxydibenzofuran*	К	200	<b>x</b>	1	2-Hydroxydibenzofuran-3-carboxylic acid	7.5	(261 169)
3-Hydroxydibenzofuran	M	220	1	01	3-Hydroxydibenzofuran-2-carboxylic acid	1	(169)
2-Allyl-3-hydroxydibenzofuran†	Na	140	20	I	2-Allyl-3-hydroxydibenzofuran-4-carboxylic acid	1	(74)
3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfide	M	220	1	2	3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfide 2-carboxylic acid	1	(169)
3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfoxide	M	220		20	3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfoxide 2-carboxylic acid	]	(169)
3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfone	M	220		9	3-Hydroxydiphenylene sulfone 2-carboxylic acid		(169)
5-Hydroxycoumarane.	X	130		l	5-Hydroxcoumarane-o-carboxylic acid	-	(73)
6-Hydroxy-2-methylcoumarane	Ж	130		1	6-Hydroxy-2-methylcoumarane-5-carboxylic acid	1	(73)
6-Hydroxy-3-methylcoumarane	Ж	130	!	ı	6-IIydroxy-3-methylcoumarane-5-carboxylic acid	1	(73)
6-Hydroxy-3-methylcoumarone	X	130	1	!	6-Hydroxy-3-methy commarone-5-carboxylic acid	1	(73)
4-Hydroxyeatechol ethylene ether	M	120	20		4-Hydroxycatechol ethylene ether 3(or 5)-carboxylic acid		(72)
The second secon						_	

† Naphtha or dioxane used as solvent.

TABLE 12 Ketones

Actone Med an		Conditions	tions			:	
	Metal or amide	Tempera- ture	CO <sub>2</sub>	Time of heating	Products	Yield	References
		%:	atm.	hours		per cent	
Methyl ethyl*	NaNH <sub>2</sub>	08-	-		Propionylacetic acid§	25	(153)
Methyl n-propyl* NaN	NaNH <sub>2</sub>	-80		!	n-Butyrylacetic acid§	30	(153)
	NaNH2	-80	-		Isovalery facetic acids	61	(153)
	NaNH <sub>2</sub>	-80	-		n-Heptanoylacetic acid§	48	(153)
tyl•	NaNH2	-80	-	1	Trimethylacetylacetic acid§	41	(153)
	NaNH <sub>2</sub>	-80		ì	Isobutyrylisbutyric acid§	09	(153)
Diisobuty1* NaN	NaNH2	-80	-	1	Isovalerylisovaleric acid§	38	(153)
Acetophenone* NaN	NaNH2	08		!	Benzuylacetic acid§	20	(153)
Butyrophenone* NaN	NaNH2	08-	-	1	Benzoyl-n-butyric acid§	19	(153)
Cyclohexanonef	NaNH2	35	-	es	Cyclohexanone-2-carboxylic acid		(83, 146, 153)
1-Methylcyclohexan-2-onet	NaNH <sub>2</sub>	40	-	e	1-Methylcyclohexan-2-one-3-carboxylic acid	10	(83)
:	NaNH2	45	-	m	1-Methylcyclohexan-3-one-4-carbozylic acid	1	(83)
	NII,	45	1	က	1-Methylcyclohexan-4-one-3-carboxylic acid	40	(83)
p-Menthone† Na		25	-	1	p-Menthonedicarboxylic acid	12	(29)
d-Isomenthone‡.	Na NH2	25	_	0.5	d-Isomenthonecarboxylic acid	1	(83)
					d-Isomenthonedicarboxylic acid		
Campbort		30	-	!	Camphorearboxylie acid	20	(29)
Tropinone† Na		1	-	1	After reduction: ecgonine and \(\psi\\\-\text{-tropine-}0\)-carboxylic acid	1	(260)

• Liquid animonia used as solvent.
† Ether used as solvent.
† Low-boiling ligroin used as solvent.
§ Isolated as methyl ester.

carbonation experiments are buried in papers dealing with other topics or in the patent literature. Under the heading "Conditions: Metal or Marasse," Li, Na, K indicate that the salts of these metals were subjected to the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction; M indicates that the Marasse modification was used with potassium carbonate. The use of other carbonates is indicated by the appropriate formulas.

## VII. SUMMARY

A survey of the Kolbe-Schmitt reaction with various modifications for the carbonation of phenols, heterocylic hydroxy compounds, and certain ketones has been presented. The Kolbe-Schmitt procedure remains the standard commercial method for the preparation of aromatic hydroxy acids. The Marasse modification is more convenient for laboratory use. The course of the reaction is influenced by temperature, pressure, alkali metal, and the presence or absence of water. The mechanism of the reaction has not been rigorously established, but introduction of the carboxyl group by electrophilic substitution agrees with the known facts. Tables showing compounds carbonated, the experimental conditions, and the yields of the acids are given.

The authors wish to thank Dr. J. Idris Jones for critically reading the manuscript and Dr. D. D. Pratt, C.B.E., Director of the Chemical Research Laboratory, for permitting the participation of one of us (A.S.L.) in the preparation of this review.

### VIII. References

- (1) AKTIEN-GESELLSCHAFT FÜR ANILIN-FABRIKATION: German patent 76,441 (1893); Frdl. 4, 152.
- (2) Anders, H.: Pharmazie 6, 527 (1951).
- (3) Andre, F.: U.S. patent 1,593,816 (1926); Chem. Abstracts 20, 3171 (1926).
- (4) Arnold, R. T., and Sprung, J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 60, 1163 (1938).
- (5) BADISCHE ANILIN- UND SODAFABRIK: German patent 830,053 (1950); Chem. Zentr. 1952, 7737.
- (6) BAINE, O., ADAMSON, G. F., BARTON, J. W., FITCH, J. L., SWAYAMPATI, D. R., AND JESKEY, H.: J. Org. Chem. 19, 510 (1954).
- (7) BALLAUF, F., AND SCHMELZER, A.: French patent 734,463 (1932); Chem. Zentr. 1933, I, 2467.
- (8) BAUBIGNY, H.: Ann. chim. et phys. [4] 19, 221 (1870).
- (9) BAUMANN, E.: Ber. 11, 1907 (1878).
- (10) BAUR, E., AND ORTHNER, R.: Z. physik. Chem. 91, 96 (1916).
- (11) BAYER, F., AND Co.: German patent 423,034 (1923); Frdl. 15, 295.
- (12) BEILSTEIN, F., AND KUHLBERG, A.: Ann. 156, 206 (1870).
- (13) BERGDOLT, A., AND BALLAUF, F.: German patent 579,230 (1933); Chem. Abstracts 27, 4542 (1933).
- (14) BEYERMAN, H. C., AND ALBERDA, G.: Rec. trav. chim. 69, 1021 (1950).
- (15) BIEDERMANN, R., AND PIKE, W. A.: Ber. 6, 324 (1873).
- (16) B.I.O.S. Final Report No. 116, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London (1945).
- (17) B.I.O.S. Final Report No. 664, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London.
- (18) B.I.O.S. Final Report No. 1246, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London
- (19) BISTRZYCKI, A. AND KOSTANECKI, St. V.: Ber. 18, 1983 (1885).

- (20) Военм, R.: Ann. 302, 174, 182 (1898).
- (21) BOJARSKA-DAHLIG, H., AND NANTKA-NAMIRSKI, P.: Roczniki Chem. 29, 1018 (1955).
- (22) BOJARSKA-DAHLIG, H., AND URBANSKI, T.: Roczniki Chem. 26, 158 (1952).
- (23) Brady, O. L., and Jakobovits, J.: J. Chem. Soc. 1950, 767.
- (24) BREDT, J.: J. prakt. Chem. 104, 9 (1922).
- (25) Bredt, J., and Sandkuhl, H.: Ann. 366, 11 (1909).
- (26) Briscoe, E. F., and Plant, S. G.: J. Chem. Soc. 1928, 1990.
- (27) Broeg, W., and Morschel, H.: German patent 548,823 (1930); Frdl. 18, 598.
- (28) BROEG, W., AND MORSCHEL, H.: German patent 555,006 (1930); British patent 366,140 (1932); Chem. Zentr. 1932, II, 1701.
- (29) BRÜHL, J. W.: Ber. 24, 3384 (1891).
- (30) BRÜHL, J. W.: Ber. 36, 1305 (1903).
- (31) BRUNNER, C.: Monatsh. 2, 459 (1881).
- (32) Brunner, C.: Ann. 351, 320 (1907).
- (33) Calco Chemical Company: U.S. patents 2,132,356 and 2,132,357 (1939); Chem. Abstracts 33, 179 (1939).
- (34) CALCOTT, W. S., HITCH, A. R., AND MAHR, H. W.: U.S. patent 1,648,839 (1928); Chem. Abstracts 22, 432 (1928).
- (35) Calvin, M.: U.S. patent 2,493,654 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 44, 2559 (1950).
- (36) Cameron, D., Jeskey, H., and Baine, O.: J. Org. Chem. 15, 233 (1950).
- (37) CANELLA AND COMPANY: German patent 241,899 (1910); Frdl. 10, 260.
- (38) CARPENTER, A. T., AND HUNTER, R. F.: J. Applied Chem. 3, 492 (1953).
- (39) CASON, J., AND DYKE, G. O.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 621 (1950).
- (40) CHELINTSEV, G. V., AND SMORGONSKIĬ, L. M.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 16, 1485 (1946); Chem. Abstracts 41, 5466 (1947).
- (41) CIAMICIAN, G.: Monatsh. 1, 625 (1880).
- (42) CIAMICIAN, G.: Ber. 14, 1056 (1881).
- (43) CIAMICIAN, G.: Gazz. chim. ital. 11, 230 (1881).
- (44) CIAMICIAN, G.: Ber. 18, 414 (1885).
- (45) CIAMICIAN, G., AND SILBER, P.: Gazz. chim. ital. 12, 272 (1882).
- (46) CIAMICIAN, G., AND SILBER, P.: Ber. 17, 1150 (1884).
- (47) CIAMICIAN, G., AND SILBER, P.: Ber. 17, 1438 (1884).
- (48) CIAMICIAN, G., AND SILBER, P.: Gazz. chim. ital. 14, 266 (1884).
- (49) C.I.O.S. Report 22, XXIII-25, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London.
- (50) CONE, L. H.: U.S. patent 1,503,984 (1922); Chem. Abstracts 18, 3193 (1924).
- (51) COOK, J. W., RAPHAEL, R. A., AND SCOTT, A. I.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 4416.
- (52) Davies, I. A.: Z. physik. Chem. 134, 57 (1928).
- (53) DEGERHOLM, E., AND LILJEGREN, A.: Swedish patent 134,386 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 3350 (1953).
- (54) DESAI, R. B., AND SETHNA, S.: J. Indian Chem. Soc. 28, 213 (1951).
- (55) Dewar, M. S. J.: The Electronic Theory of Organic Chemistry, pp. 168, 227. Oxford University Press, London (1949).
- (56) Dobrzycki, V. L.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 36, 389 (1887).
- (57) DOUB, L.: U.S. patent 2,540,104 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 45, 4005 (1951).
- (58) DOUB, L., SCHAFER, J. J., BAMBAS, L. L., AND WALKER, C. T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 903 (1951).
- (59) DRAIN, D. J., MARTIN, D. D., MITCHELL, B. W., SEYMOUR, D. E., AND SPRING, F. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1949, 1498.
- (60) Drechsel, E.: Z. Chemie 1, 580 (1865).
- (61) DZIEWONSKI, K., AND OTTO, M.: Bull. intern. acad. polonaise. Classe sci. math. nat. 1935A, 201; Chem. Abstracts 30, 2561 (1936).
- (62) ELLER, A.: Ber. 1, 248 (1868).
- (63) Eller, A.: Ann. 152, 277 (1869).

- (64) ENGELHARDT, A.: J. Russ. Phys. Chem. Soc. 1, 220 (1869).
- (65) ENGELHARDT, A.: Z. Chemie, p. 623 (1869).
- (66) ERLENMEYER, H., PRIJS, B., SARKIN, E., AND SUTTER, E.: Helv. Chem. Acta 31, 988 (1948).
- (67) EVERITT, W.: British patents 105,611 (1916) and 105,612 (1916); J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 36, 614 (1917).
- (68) EVERITT, W.: British patent 105,614 (1916); J. Soc. Chem. Ind. 36, 584 (1917).
- (69) FAITH, W. L., KEYES, D. B., AND CLARK, R. L.: Industrial Chemicals, p. 526. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1950).
- (70) FARBENINDUSTRIE, I. G.: German patent 436,524 (1924); Frdl. 15, 298.
- (71) FARBENINDUSTRIE, I. G.: German patent 566,452 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 27, 1001 (1933)
- (72) FARBENINDUSTRIE, I. G.: British patent 458,573 (1936); Brit. Chem. Abstracts 1937B, 218
- (73) FARBENINDUSTRIE, I. G.: French patent 806,600 (1936); Chem. Zentr. 1937, I, 4867.
- (74) FARBENINDUSTRIE, I. G.: French patent 857,999 (1940); Chem. Zentr. 1941, I, 2038.
- (75) FERGUSON, L. N., HOLMES, R. R., AND CALVIN, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 72, 5315 (1950).
- (76) FERGUSON, L. N., REID, J. C., AND CALVIN, M.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 68, 2502 (1946).
- (77) FERROSAN, A. B.: Finnish patent 25,396 (1949); Chem. Zentr. 1952, 7093.
- (78) F.I.A.T. Final Report No. 744, His Majesty's Stationery Office, London (1946).
- (79) FILETI, M.: Gazz. chim. ital. 16, 126 (1886).
- (80) FRY, D. J.: British patent 638,196 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 44, 9481 (1950).
- (81) Fuson, R. C., Corse, J., and Weldon, P. B.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 63, 2645 (1941).
- (82) Fuson, R. C., and Mckeever, C. H.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 999 (1940).
- (83) GARDNER, H. D., PERKIN, W. H., AND WATSON, H.: J. Chem. Soc. 97, 1756 (1910).
- (84) Gentsch, A.: German patent 156,761; Chem. Zentr. 1905, I, 313.
- (85) Gershzon, G. I.: J. Gen. Chem. U.S.S.R. 13, 68 (1943); Chem. Abstracts 38, 1219 (1944).
- (86) GIBSON, J., KYNASTON, W., AND LINDSEY, A. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1955, 4340.
- (87) GILMAN, H., ARNTZEN, C. E., AND WEBB, F. J.: J. Org. Chem. 10, 374 (1945).
- (88) Gottesman, R. T.: Encyclopedia of Chemical Technology, Vol. 12 (Salicylic acid), pp. 57-8. The Interscience Encyclopedia, Inc., New York (1954).
- (89) Graesser-Monsanto Chemical Works: British patent 353,921 (1930); Chem. Abstracts 26, 5313 (1932).
- (90) GRIMME, W., AND WÖLLNER, J.: German patent 839,643 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 1740 (1953).
- (91) Hale, D. K., Hawdon, A. R., Jones, J. I., and Packham, D. I.: J. Chem. Soc. 1952, 3503.
- (92) HALES, J. L., JONES, J. I., AND LINDSEY, A. S.: J. Chem. Soc. 1954, 3145.
- (93) HARRIS, S., AND PIERCE, J. S.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 62, 2223 (1940).
- (94) HAUPTSCHEIN, M., NODIFF, E. A., AND SAGGIOMO, A. J.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 76, 1051 (1954).
- (95) HEMMELMAYR, F.: German patents 296,035 (1914) and 296,501 (1915); Frdl. 13, 291.
- (96) HEMMELMAYR, F.: Monatsh. 38, 77 (1917).
- (97) Hempel, A., Cohn, G., and Naef, E.: Enzyklopädie der technischen Chemie, edited by Fritz Ullmann, Vol. 2 (Benzoesaure), pp. 236-42. Urban und Schwarzenberg, Berlin (1928).
- (98) Henecka, H.: Houben-Weyl's Methoden der organischen Chemie, 4th edition, edited by Eugen Müller, (Sauerstoffverbindungen III), pp. 372-7. Georg Thieme, Stuttgart (1952).
- (99) Hentschel, W.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 27, 39 (1883).
- (100) HERNLER, F., AND SOMMER, O.: Monatsh. 53/54, 648 (1929).
- (101) HERTS PHARMACEUTICALS LTD.: British patent 636,333 (1947); Chem. Abstracts 44, 7350 (1950).

- (102) HERTS PHARMACEUTICALS LTD.: British patent 636,347 (1947); Chem. Abstracts 44, 7350 (1950).
- (103) HERTS PHARMACEUTICALS Ltd.: Swiss patent 270,399 (1948); Chem. Zentr. 1951, II, 452.
- (104) HERZIG, J., WENZEL, F., AND KAISER, F.: Monatsh. 24, 908 (1903).
- (105) HERZIG, J., WENZEL, F., TÖLK, R., AND GRAETZ, B.: Monatsh. 23, 96 (1902).
- (106) v. Heyden, Fabrik: German patent 38,052 (1886); Frdl. 1, 236.
- (107) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 48,536 (1889); Frdl. 2, 132.
- (108) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 50,341 (1889); Frdl. 2, 133.
- (109) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 55,414 (1890); Frdl. 3, 504.
- (110) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 56,621 (1890); Frdl. 3, 828.
- (111) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 61,125 (1891); Frdl. 3, 828.
- (112) v. HEYDEN, FABRIK: German patent 65,316 (1892); Frdl. 3, 289.
- (113) Higgins, E. B.: U.S. patent 2,531,380 (1949); Chem. Abstracts 45, 3422 (1951).
- (114) HILL, P., SHORT, W. F., AND STROMBERG, H.: J. Chem. Soc. 1937, 937.
- (115) HODGES, F. J., AND NADLER, M. L.: U.S. patent 2,544,881 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 45, 8045 (1951).
- (116) HOLMES, P., WHITE, D. E., AND WILSON, I. H.: J. Chem. Soc. 1950, 2811.
- (117) Hopff, H.: Enzyklopädie der technischen Chemie, edited by Fritz Ullmann, Vol. 3 (Aminosalicylsauren), pp. 518-19. Urban und Schwarzenberg, Berlin (1953).
- (118) HÜCKEL, W.: Theoretische Grundlagen der organischen Chemie, 1934, p. 210; 1952, p. 297. Akademische Verlagsgesellshaft, Leipzig.
- (119) HULTQUIST, M. E., AND BAGIENSKI, F. W.: U.S. patent 2,558,298 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 46, 532 (1952).
- (120) Hunt, S. E., Jones, J. I., and Lindsey, A. S.: Chemistry & Industry 1955, 417.
- (121) HUNT, S. E., JONES, J. I., AND LINDSEY, A. S.: Chemistry Research 1952, p. 66. D.S.I.R. London, His Majesty's Stationery Office (1953).
- (122) Hunt, S. E., Jones, J. I., and Lindsey, A. S.: Chemistry Research 1955, p. 43. D.S.I.R. London, His Majesty's Stationery Office (1956).
- (123) Hunt, S. E., Jones, J. I., and Lindsey, A. S.: Unpublished results.
- (124) Hunt, S. E., Jones, J. I., Lindsey, A. S., Chesher, G. B., Collier, H. O. J., Robinson, F. A., and Taylor, E. P.: Nature 175, 206 (1955).
- (124a) I. G. FARBENINDUSTRIE A.-G.: see Farbenindustrie, I. G.
- (125) IHLE, R.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 14, 443 (1876).
- (126) INGOLD, C. K.: Ann. Repts. on Progress Chem. (Chem. Soc. London) 23, 131 (1926).
- (127) INGOLD, C. K.: Ann. Reports on Progress Chem. (Chem. Soc. London) 25, 137 (1928).
- (128) ISEMER, G.: Doctoral Thesis, Halle, 1951.
- (129) JESKEY, H.: Unpublished observation.
- (130) JESURUN, J. A.: Ber. 19, 1414 (1886).
- (131) JOHNSON, J. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 3029 (1933).
- (132) KARAPUCHIN, P. P., AND CHUSSID, I. J.: Ukraine Chem. J. **10**, 375 (1935); Chem. Abstracts **30**, 2191 (1936).
- (133) Kato, T.: Japanese patent 4204 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 47, 3348 (1953).
- (134) Kekulé, F. A.: Ber. 7, 1006 (1874).
- (135) KINNEY, C. R., AND WARD, O. W.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 3796 (1933).
- (136) KIZLER, A. I., AND GLAGOLERA, A. S.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) 23, 1028 (1953); Chem. Abstracts 47, 4343 (1953).
- (137) KOLBE, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 10, 89 (1874).
- (138) Kolbe, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 11, 24, (1875).
- (139) KOLBE, H., AND LAUTEMANN, E.: Ann. 113, 125 (1860).
- (140) Kolbe, H., and Lautemann, E.: Ann. 115, 157 (1860).
- (141) Kolbe, H., and Lautemann, E.: Ann. 115, 178 (1860).
- (142) KOLBE, H., AND LAUTEMANN, E.: Ann. 115, 201 (1860).
- (143) Korsheniowski, G.: J. Chem. Ind. Russ. 6, 541; Chem. Zentr. 1929, II, 2936.

- (144) KOSTANECKI, v. St.: Ber. 18, 3203 (1885).
- (145) KOSTANECKI, v. St.: Ber. 19, 2323 (1886).
- (146) Kötz, A. and Grethe, Th.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 80, 473, 504 (1909).
- (147) KREPELKA, V., AND KARNY, J.: Chem. Obzor. 14, 65 (1939); Chem. Abstracts 33, 7294 (1939).
- (148) Krohn, C.: Ber. 21, 884 (1888).
- (149) Laboratoires français de Chimiothérapie: Swiss patent 276,855 (1948); Chem. Zentr. 1952, 4847.
- (150) LARKA, L., AND HALLER, O.: German patent 559,333 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 27, 735 (1933).
- (151) LECHER, H. S., AND SCALERA, M.: U. S. patent 2,132,357 (1937); Chem. Abstracts 33, 179 (1939).
- (152) LECHER, H. S., AND SCALERA, M.: British patent 483,795 (1938); Chem. Abstracts 32, 7057 (1938).
- (153) LEVINE, R., AND HAUSER, C. R.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 66, 1768 (1944).
- (154) LINDSEY, A. S.: Unpublished results.
- (155) LOBRY DE BRUYN, C. A., AND TIJMSTRA, S.: Rec. trav chim. 23, 385 (1904).
- (156) Luce, W., and Fisher, E.: U. S. patent 1,951,832 (1934); Chem. Abstracts 28, 3422 (1934).
- (157) Lustig, S.: Ber. 19, 18 (1886).
- (158) LUTTRINGHAUS, A.: Ann. 557, 36 (1945).
- (159) MARASSE, S.: German patent 73,279 (1893); Frdl. 3, 821.
- (160) Marasse, S.: German patent 78,708 (1894); Frdl. 4, 152.
- (161) MARION, L., AND McCrae, J. A.: Can. J. Research 18B, 265 (1940).
- (162) MARTEL, A. E., AND CALVIN, M.: Chemistry of Metal Chelate Compounds, p. 191. Prentice-Hall, New York (1952).
- (163) MARTIN, D. D., SPRING, F. S., DEMPSEY, T. G., GOODACRE, C. L., AND SEYMOUR, D. E.: Nature 161, 435 (1948).
- (164) MILLER, A. K.: Ann. 220, 116 (1883).
- (165) Moll Van Charante, J.: Rec. trav. chim. 27, 58 (1908).
- (166) MORTON, A. A., AND LETSINGER, R. L.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 67, 1537 (1945).
- (167) Mosettig, E., and Burger, A.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 55, 2981 (1933).
- (168) MUTH, F.: German patent 554,645 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 26, 5970 (1932).
- (169) Muth, F.: German patent 593,506 (1932); Chem. Zentr. 1934, I, 3397.
- (170) MUTH, F.: U. S. patent 2,193,677 (1940); Chem. Abstracts 34, 4745 (1940).
- (171) NATIONAL ANILINE AND CHEMICAL Co., Inc.: U. S. patent 1,725.394 (1929); Chem. Abstracts 23, 4712 (1929).
- (172) Nierenstein, M., and Clibbens, D. A.: Organic Syntheses, Collective Vol. II, p. 557. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York (1943).
- (173) Oddo, G., and Mameli, L.: Gazz. chim. ital. 31, II, 244 (1901).
- (174) Oddo, G., and Mameli, L.: Atti. accad. Lincei 10, II, 240 (1901).
- (175) OLIVERI, V.: Gazz. chim. ital. 12, 166 (1882).
- (176) Ost, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 11, 385 (1875).
- (177) Ost, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 14, 99 (1876).
- (178) Osr, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 15, 301 (1877).
- (179) PALFRAY, L., AND METAYER, M.: Bull. soc. chim. 1948, 956.
- (180) Parke, Davis and Company: British patent 672,594 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 10551 (1953).
- (181) PASTERNO, E., AND MAZARRA, G.: Gazz. chim. ital. 8, 389 (1878).
- (182) Pfau, A. St.: Helv. Chim. Acta 9, 667 (1926).
- (183) PRAXMARER, A.: Monatsh. 27, 1200 (1906).
- (184) REICHENBERG, E. H., AND REICHENBERG, S. W.: British patent 460.282 (1935); Chem. Zentr. 1937, I. 5047.

- (185) Rodionov, V. M.: Bull. acad. sci. U.R.S.S., Classe sci. chim. 1940, No. 3, 421; Chem. Abstracts 35, 5101 (1941).
- (186) ROSDAHL, K. G.: Svensk Kem. Tid. 60, 64 (1948).
- (187) ROSDAHL, K. G.: Swedish patent 127,813 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 44, 9480 (1950).
- (188) ROSDAHL, K. G.: Swedish patent 132,235 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 46, 5617 (1952).
- (189) ROSDAHL, K. G.: Swedish patent 135,135 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 4914 (1953).
- (190) ROSDAHL, K. G.: Swedish patent 136,607 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 47, 12420 (1953).
- (191) RUBIN, L.: Microfilm Abstracts 10, No. 3, 30 (1950).
- (192) Russig, F.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 62, 33 (1900).
- (193) Russig, F.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 62, 57 (1900).
- (194) Schaeffer, L.: Ann. 152, 291 (1869).
- (195) Schaeffer, L.: Ber. 2, 90 (1869).
- (196) SCHAEFFER, L.: J. prakt. Chem. [1] 106, 449 (1869).
- (197) SCHERING, E.: German patent 138,563 (1900); Chem. Zentr. 1903, I, 372.
- (198) SCHLENK, W., HILLEMANN, H., AND RODLOFF, I.: Ann. 487, 139 (1931).
- (199) SCHMELZER, A., MUTH, F., AND BALLAUF, F.: German patent 512,234 (1928); Chem. Zentr. 1931, II, 1761.
- (200) SCHMID, H.: Monatsh. 32, 440 (1911).
- (201) SCHMID, J.: Ber. 26, 1114 (1893).
- (202) SCHMITT, R.: German patent 29,939 (1884); Frdl. 1, 233.
- (203) SCHMITT, R.: German patent 31,240 (1884); Frdl. 1, 235.
- (204) SCHMITT, R.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 31, 397 (1885).
- (205) SCHMITT, R.: German patent 38,742 (1886); Frdl. 1, 234.
- (206) SCHMITT, R., AND ALTSCHUL, J.: Ber. 20, 2695 (1887).
- (207) SCHMITT, R., AND BURKARD, E.: Ber. 20, 2699 (1877).
- (208) SCHMITT, R., AND ENGELMANN, F.: Ber. 20, 1217 (1887).
- (209) SCHMITT, R., AND HÄHLE, H.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 44, 2 (1891).
- (210) SCHMITT, R., AND KRETZSCHMAR, C.: Ber. 20, 2703 (1887).
- (211) Schoen, K.: U. S. patent 2,572,284 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 46, 3568 (1952).
- (212) SCHRADER, G.: German patent 566,520 (1931); Chem. Abstracts 27, 2457 (1933).
- (213) SCHREIER, A., AND WENZEL, F.: Monatsh. 25, 312 (1904).
- (214) SCHROETER, G.: Ann. 426, 83 (1922).
- (215) SCHWARZ, A.: German patent 740,446 (1943); Chem. Abstracts 39, 2296 (1945).
- (216) SCHWARZ, H.: Ber. 13, 1643 (1880).
- (217) SCHWARZENBACH, G., AND ACKERMANN, H.: Helv. Chim. Acta 30, 1801 (1947).
- (218) SCHWENK, E.: U. S. patent 1,700,546 (1929); Chem. Abstracts 23, 1420 (1929).
- (219) SCHWENK, E., KNOB, M., AND STEIN, H.: Chem. Ztg. 53, 297, 333 (1929).
- (220) SEEL, F.: Angew. Chem. 60, 300 (1948).
- (221) SEGALLER, D.: J. Chem. Soc. 105, 114 (1914).
- (222) Senhoffer, C., and Brunner, C.: Sitzungber, Akad. Wiss. Wien 80, II, 506 (1879).
- (223) SENHOFFER, C., AND BRUNNER, C.: Monatsh. 1, 236 (1880).
- (224) SENHOFFER, C., AND BRUNNER, C.: Monatsh. 1, 468 (1880).
- (225) SENHOFFER, C., AND BRUNNER, C.: Jahresber. Fortschritte Chem., p. 835 (1880).
- (226) SHEEHAN, J. T.: J. Am. Chem. Soc. 70, 1665 (1948).
- (227) Shimizu, M., and Maki, M.: J. Pharm. Soc. Japan 71, 958 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 46, 8058 (1952).
- (228) Siegle, G., and Company: German patent 740,446 (1941); Chem. Zentr. 1944, I, 59.
- (229) Siegle, G., and Company: French patent 892,458 (1942); Chem. Zentr. 1947, 1416.
- (230) SILIN, N. F., AND MOSCHTSCHINKAJA, N. K.: Russian patent 53,678 (1938); Chem. Zentr. 1939, I, 241.
- (231) SILIN, N. F., AND MOSCHTSCHINKAJA, N. K.: J. Gen. Chem. U.S.S.R. 8, 810 (1938).
- (232) SINKOW, S. E.: Anilinfarb. Ind. 3, 144 (1933); Chem. Zentr. 1933, II, 3119.

- (233) SKRAUP, ZD. H.: Monatsh. 10, 724 (1889).
- (234) SLUITER, C. H.: Ber. 45, 59 (1912).
- (235) SPALLINO, R., AND PROVENZAL, G.: Gazz. chim. ital. 39, ii, 326 (1909).
- (236) SPIKA, P.: Gazz. chim. ital. 8, 421 (1878).
- (237) STELT, G. VAN DER, AND NAUTA, W. TH.: Pharm. Weekblad 85, 474 (1950).
- (238) STELT, G. VAN DER, SUURMOND, B. G., AND NAUTA, W. TH.: Rec. trav. chim. 71, 509 (1952).
- (239) TAMURA, K., AND KONDO, N.: Repts. Sci. Research Inst. (Japan) 28, 377 (1952); Chem. Abstracts 48, 5831 (1954).
- (240) THIELE, J., AND JAEGER, K.: Ber. 34, 2840 (1901).
- (241) TIJMSTRA, S.: Ber. 38, 1375 (1905).
- (242) TIJMSTRA, S.: Ber. 45, 2837 (1912).
- (243) TIJMSTRA, S., AND EGGINK, B. G.: Ber. 39, 14 (1906).
- (244) TSCHITSCHIBABIN, A. E., AND KIRSSANOW, A. W.: Ber. 57, 1161 (1924).
- (245) VARNHOLT, L.: J. prakt. Chem. [2] 36, 19 (1897).
- (246) Vorozhtsov, N. N., and Troshchenko, A. T.: J. Gen. Chem. (U.S.S.R.) **8**, 427 (1938); Chem. Abstracts **32**, 7907 (1938).
- (247) VOSWINCKEL, H., AND WEARTH, F. DE: Ber. 45, 1242 (1912).
- (248) WACKER, A.: British patent 384,619 (1932); Chem. Abstracts 27, 1895 (1932).
- (249) WANDER, A.: Swiss patent 265,516 (1949); Chem Abstracts 45, 181 (1951).
- (250) WANDER, A.: Swiss patent 266,638 (1950); Chem. Abstracts 45, 1627 (1951).
- (251) WERNER, A., AND KUNZ, J.: Ber. 35, 4419 (1902).
- (252) WESSELY, F., BENEDIKT, K., AND BENGER, H.: Experentia 5, 322 (1949).
- (253) WESSELY, F., BENEDIKT, K., AND BENGER, H.: Monatsh. 80, 197 (1949).
- (254) Wessely, F., Benedikt, K., Benger, H., Friedrich, G., and Prillinger, F.: Monatsh. 81, 1071 (1950).
- (255) Wessely, F., Eibb, H., and Friedrich, G.: Monatsh. 83, 24 (1952).
- (256) WHITTAKER, J., AND SMITH, S.: Thorpe's Dictionary of Applied Chemistry, 4th edition, Vol. 10 (Salicylic Acid), pp. 662-4. Longmans, Green and Company, New York (1950).
- (257) WIDEQUIST, S.: Arkiv Kemi 7, 229 (1954).
- (258) WILL, W.: Ber. 18, 1323, 1885.
- (259) WILL, W., AND ALBRECHT, K.: Ber. 17, 2098 (1884).
- (260) WILLSTÄTTER, R., AND BODE, A.: Ber. 34, 1457 (1901).
- (261) WOLTHUIS, E., AND SHAFER, H. M.: U. S. patent 2,453,105 (1948); Chem. Abstracts 43, 3040 (1949).
- (262) ZIENTY, F. B., AND HARVEY, D. J.: U. S. patent 2,547,241 (1951); Chem. Abstracts 45, 8043 (1951).
- (263) ZITSCHER, A., AND HALLER, O.: German patent 663,774 (1936); Frdl. 25, 152.